Doc.AEWA/EGMIWG/6.15/Rev.2 Date: 18 June 2021

AEWA EUROPEAN GOOSE MANAGEMENT PLATFORM



AEWA European Goose Management Platform

6th MEETING OF THE AEWA EUROPEAN GOOSE MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL WORKING GROUP



21-23 June 2021, Online conference format

ADAPTIVE FLYWAY MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME FOR THE NW/SW EUROPEAN POPULATION OF THE GREYLAG GOOSE ANSER ANSER

Szabolcs Nagy¹, Henning Heldbjerg², Gitte Høj Jensen², Fred Johnson², Jesper Madsen², Eva Meyers³ & Sergey Dereliev³

Affiliations¹

¹Rubicon Foundation

² EGMP Data Centre, Aarhus University, Department of Bioscience

³ UNEP/AEWA Secretariat

The 6th Meeting of the AEWA European Goose Management International Working Group is taking place remotely in an online conference format.

Table of Contents	
List of acronyms and abbreviations	3
Background	4
Introduction	5
1. Definitions of Management Units (MUs)	9
2. Definitions of Favourable Reference Values (FRVs)	10
3. Population targets above the FRVs	13
4. Population Models to support harvest management	13
5. Monitoring indicators and programmes	16
6. Protocols for the iterative phase	16
Annex 1. Annual workplans	21
Annex 2. Box 1 of the ISSMP for the Greylag Goose	24
Annex 3. Setting population targets	45
Annex 4. Population Models	68
Annex 5. Impact Models	78
Annex 6. Indicator Factsheets	80
Annex 7. Protocols for the iterative phase	91

List of acronyms and abbreviations

AEWA	Agreement on the Conservation of African-Eurasian Migratory Waterbirds
AFMP	Adaptive Flyway Management Programme
AV	Agreement Value
CMS	Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals
DV	Directive Value
EC	European Commission
EGM IWG	European Goose Management International Working Group
EGM IWG4 / IWG5	The 4 th / 5th meeting of the EGM IWG
EGMP	(AEWA) European Goose Management Platform
FCS	Favourable Conservation Status
FO	Fundamental Objective
FRH	Favourable Reference Habitat (in sense of 'habitat for the species' in DG Environment, 2017)
FRP	Favourable Reference Population
FRR	Favourable Reference Range
FRV	Favourable Reference Value
ISSMP	International Single Species Management Plan
IWC	International Waterbird Census
MCDA	Multi-criteria Decision Analysis
МОР	Meeting of the Parties
MU	Management Unit
TF	Task Force

Background

The process for the development of the Greylag Goose Adaptive Flyway Management Programme (GG AFMP) was formally adopted by the European Goose Management International Working Group (EGM IWG) at the EGM IWG4 in June 2019 in Perth, UK (document <u>AEWA/EGMIWG/4.12/Rev.1</u>). A first draft of the AFMP was submitted to the EGM IWG5 in June 2020 and adopted, pending the missing sections, as document <u>AEWA/EGMIWG/5.14</u>.

In addition, document <u>AEWA/EGMIWG/5.12</u> was provided as an overview and roadmap for the finalisation of the pending GG AFMP sections and for the implementation of the AFMP for the Northwest/Southwest European population of the Greylag Goose in the next 6 years until 2026.

During the intersessional period and ahead of the 6th Meeting of the EGM IWG (EGM IWG6), the EGMP Data Centre, the Secretariat and the Greylag Goose Task Force (established at EGM IWG5), developed the missing sections of the GG AFMP.

The draft GG AFMP, including the new sections was circulated for consultation within the Greylag Goose Task Force on 19 April 2021, providing members of the Task Force an opportunity to comment on the newly added sections and initiate a national consultation process.

It should be noted that since the GG AFMP was adopted at EGM IWG5 for implementation, only comments on the newly added sections, corrections on figures and inconsistencies were taken into consideration in the production of the final GG AFMP. Content that was already agreed at EGM IWG5 can only be amended according to the agreed cycle for the revision of the AFMP, described in chapter 6 and figure 4 of the GG AFMP.

In the present document, the updates/additions/new figures are highlighted in green.

Once the additions/updates are adopted at EGM IWG6, a final version will be created and published on the EGMP website. This version will also include a page with information on the milestones in the preparation of the GG AFMP, lifespan and review of the AFMP, citation, etc.

Action requested from the EGM IWG

Review and adopt the new sections and updates that have been added to the GG AFMP and that are highlighted in green.

Introduction

The International Single Species Management Plan (ISSMP) for the NW/SW European population of the Greylag Goose *Anser anser* (Polowny et al., 2018) was developed according to Paragraph 4.3.4 of the AEWA Text, Annex 3. This provides for developing ISSMPs for populations which cause significant damage, in particular, to crops and fisheries. In addition, it responds to AEWA Resolution 6.4, which requested the establishment of a multispecies goose management platform and process to address the sustainable use of goose populations and to provide for the resolution of human-goose conflicts, targeting as a matter of priority Barnacle and Greylag Geese.

The ISSMP for the Northwest/Southwest European population of the Greylag Goose was adopted at the 7th Session of the Meeting of the Parties to AEWA (MOP7), 4-8 December 2018 in Durban, South Africa. The ISSMP provides a mandate for developing a population-specific Adaptive Flyway Management Programme (AFMP) for the Northwest/Southwest European population of the Greylag Goose, recognising that there are regional differences in migratory behaviour and the human-wildlife conflicts involved within this population. The AFMP shall be formally adopted by the European Goose Management International Working Group (EGM IWG) and then reviewed periodically.

The process for the development of the Greylag Goose AFMP was formally adopted by the European Goose Management International Working Group (EGM IWG) at the EGM IWG4 in June 2019 in Perth, UK (document <u>AEWA/EGMIWG/4.12/Rev.1</u>) and a first draft of the AFMP was submitted to the EGM IWG5 in June 2020 and adopted, as document <u>AEWA/EGMIWG/5.14</u>.

Table 1 provides an overview of the sections remaining to be developed under this AFMP in the upcoming years, as agreed at EGM IWG5.

AFMP sections under development	Timeline	Lead	Resources required
Annex 4: Population models	By May 2023	tbd	Not estimated yet
Annex 5: Impact models	By May 2022 (but pending funding)	EGMP Data Centre	EUR 150,000 (shared between Greylag Goose and Barnacle Goose over 2 years)

Table 1. Overview of the AFMP sections remaining to be developed, including timeline, lead and resources required (and secured).

The timeline shown in Table 2 provides an overview of the envisaged process starting from the EGM IWG4 in June 2019 up until 2026, in which various elements of the AFMP can realistically be developed and delivered subject to the availability of resources.

Table 2. Overview of the next steps and timeline for the finalisation and the implementation of the AFMP. The steps required for the transition to dynamic management at MU-level as of 2023 are highlighted in "red". A crucial element of the MU-level management is the availability of annual estimates of the national breeding numbers. Two alternative methods are proposed in Chapter 5 of the AFMP. In this table Option A is highlighted with a "green" background and Option B with "blue" one. Option A, in green is considered to be extremely difficult and costly to perform, hence option B, in blue is the only reasonably feasible solution. The work to describe the details for this option is in progress and presented in the EGMP Population Status and Assessment Report.

Process	EGM IWG4 June 2019	EGM IWG5 June 2020	EGM IWG6 June 2021	EGM IWG7 June 2022	EGM IWG8 June 2023	EGM IWG9 June 2024	EGM IWG10 June 2025	EGM IWG11 June 2026
AFMP development	AFMP process agreed	1 st Draft AFMP ready for adoption	Review and adopt complete AFMP, including missing sections					Evaluation and revision AFMP
	MUs agreed	FRVs agreed	FRVs finalised					
		Population targets agreed						
		Info-Gap-based decision making at population level (management criterion and change of harvest rate agreed)			End of Info-Gap- based decision making & start of model-based decision making at MU level			
				Pilot impact model developed for one country	Impact model expanded to 2+ countries			

6

AFMP implementation	Annual workplans developed	Review annual workplans	Review annual workplans	Review annual workplans	Review annual workplans	Review annual workplans	Review annual workplans
Indicators	Collection of data for indicators ² starts	Collection of data for indicators	Collection of data for indicators			Collection of data for indicators	Collection of data for indicators
			Baseline for indicator IV.1 reported			Reporting on all indicators	
Harvest management			Evaluation of bias in offtake completed				
			Systematic monitoring in place				
		Harvest assessment at population level	Harvest assessment at population level	Harvest assessment at MU level	Harvest assessment at MU level	Harvest assessment at MU level	Harvest assessment at MU level
	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts	Mid-winter counts
	July counts	July counts	July counts	July counts	July counts	July counts	July counts
	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring	Common Bird Monitoring

² see Table 3 and Annex 6

		Breeding population survey			Breeding population survey		
	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data	Collection of offtake data
	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring	Crippling rate monitoring

It is key to recognise that the population cannot be managed appropriately, let alone at the MU-level, based on the results of the Info-Gap analysis and this approach should be used only temporarily for a short period of time (it will be ceased in 2023) while securing the preconditions for the transition to dynamic management. The steps required for this transition to dynamic management at MU-level as of 2023 are highlighted in "red" in Table 2. A crucial element of the MU-level management is the availability of annual estimates of the national breeding numbers. Two alternative methods are proposed in Chapter 5 of the AFMP. In Table 2 of this document, Option A is marked with "green" background and Option B with "blue" one.

The aim of the AFMP is to establish an agreement amongst Range States on the implementation of those activities in the Greylag Goose ISSMP that require coordination at the population and/or at Management Unit (MU) levels. Specifically, this AFMP addresses the following activities:

- 1) Establish Management Units (MUs; Chapter 1), hierarchical Favourable Reference Values (FRVs; Chapter 2) and population targets (Chapter 3 and Annex 3) at flyway, MU and national levels iteratively to ensure that national targets are consistent with the flyway targets and with legal requirements at all levels;
- 2) Establish an internationally coordinated population management programme for both MUs, including offtake under hunting and, if necessary, under derogations (Chapter 4 and Annex 4) encompassing monitoring, assessment and decision-making protocols (Chapter 6 and Annex 7);
- 3) Establish indicators to assess progress toward the Fundamental Objectives (Chapter 5 and Annex 6) and guide the implementation of further activities of the Greylag Goose ISSMP through population-specific workplans (Annex 1).

In addition, this AFMP will assist Range States in coordinating the implementation of their derogation schemes and contain information that is relevant for assessing the need for derogations at Range State level (Annexes 2 and 5).

The AFMP provides a framework for joint management of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose to ensure that the fundamental objectives (FOs) agreed in the ISSMP are achieved. However, each Range State remains responsible for national planning and implementation, including of derogation measures if needed, within the framework of the ISSMP.

This AFMP covers the period of 2020 - 2026.

1. Definitions of Management Units (MUs)

The ISSMP has mandated the EGM IWG to define the Management Units (MUs) in the AFMP to recognise regional differences in migratory behaviour and human-wildlife conflicts. The EGM IWG at its 4th meeting in June 2019 (Doc. AEWA/EGMIWG/4.14³) agreed to distinguish two MUs (Figure 1):

MU 1 (migratory) Breeding: Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland Stopovers: Denmark, Germany, France Wintering: Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark, Sweden, France, Spain, Portugal⁴ MU 2 (sedentary) Breeding: Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France Wintering: Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France

³<u>https://egmp.aewa.info/sites/default/files/meeting_files/documents/AEWA_EGM_IWG_4_14_Def_GG_MUs.pdf</u>

⁴ Portugal was originally not included by the population also winters there.



Figure 1. Agreed management units of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose.

2. Definitions of Favourable Reference Values (FRVs)

The ISSMP has mandated the EGM IWG to set the Favourable Reference Values (FRVs) in the AFMP for the breeding and non-breeding seasons. The FRVs represent the minimum levels of population size, range and

habitat necessary to consider a population being in Favourable Conservation Status (FCS). Following the EGM IWG4, a revised document setting out the principles of defining FRVs for the NW/SW European population of the Greylag Goose was circulated on 5 August 2019 and later revised based on written feedback from Range States and a workshop held with the European Commission (EC) and EU Member States on 31 January 2020 (AEWA/EGMIWG/Inf.5.10⁵).

Range States were requested to define their national Favourable Reference Range (FRR), Favourable Reference Habitat (FRH) and the breeding Favourable Reference Population (FRP) values. If no information was provided by the Range States, the breeding numbers reported for the 2013-2018 period under Article 12

⁵<u>https://egmp.aewa.info/sites/default/files/meeting_files/information_documents/AEWA_EGM_IWG5_Inf_5_10_Defin</u> <u>ing_FRVs_for_GG.pdf</u>

of the EU Birds Directive⁶ were used. National FRV values were aggregated at MU- and population-level and summarised in Table 3.

Table 3. National, manag	gement unit and	population level F	RVs. Manag	gement Unit 1 (I	MU1) includes	s: Norway, S	weden,			
Denmark, Finland (Bree	eding); Denmar	k, Germany, Frai	nce (Stopov	ers); Netherland	ds, Belgium,	Denmark, S	weden,			
France, Spain, Portugal (Wintering) and MU2 includes: Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France.										
Country	bFRP	bFRR	bFRH	wFRP	nFRR	nFRH				
	(pairs)	(km2)	(Y/N)	(inds)	(km2)	(Y/N)				
Norway	10,000	269,300	Y	436	194,200	Y				
Sweden	12,000	155,900	Y	23,883	78,000	Y				
Finland	2,700	22,000	Y	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.				
Denmark	6,400	45,400	Y	9,931	49,500	Y				
Germany	49,780 ^F	203,338 ^F	?	191,636	?	?				
Netherlands	21,000	37,869	Y	107,321	38,136	Y				
Belgium	2,000	21,800	Y	11,146	29,300	Y				
France	200	256,400	Y	3,350	512,300	Y				
Spain	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	24,698	?	?				
Total MU1	31,100		4/0	112,893	?	3/0				
		<mark>492,600</mark>								
Total MU2	72,980	519,407	3/0	264,916	?	2/0				
Total Population	104,080		7/0	370,400	?	5/0				
		1,012,007								

Keys:

inds: individuals

- b: breeding
- n: non-breeding (i.e. both staging and wintering)
- w: wintering
- Y/N: Yes/No
- n.a.: not applicable
- ?: no data provided
- F: in the absence of FRVs provided by the country, a single value FRV is calculated based on the geometric mean of the minimum and maximum population estimate reported by the country for 2013-2018 to the European Commission under Article 12 of the EU Birds Directive
- *: The sum of national nFRRs in all Range States of this MU

3. Favourable Reference Population (FRP)

The **FRP** for the breeding season (bFRP in Table 3) is **31,000 pairs for MU1**, **73,000 pairs for MU2** and **104,000 pairs for the whole population** after rounding.

The 4th Meeting of the European Goose Management International Working Group (EGM IWG4) requested assurances that the Favourable Reference Populations for the breeding and for the non-breeding season are consistent with one another (see page 7 in Doc. AEWA/EGMIWG/Inf.6.10). The Accordingly, the national wintering FRPs were calculated from the national breeding FRPs, using the same factor of 3.63 individuals to

⁶ Available at <u>http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/</u> for each EU Member States under European Union (EU) obligations > Birds Directive > Report on Implementation Measures.

convert pair into mid-winter numbers as in the MCDA² (Johnson, 2020b) and using the available re-sighting data of neck-banded birds (Table 4). The calculated FRPs for the mid-winter season are presented in Table 3 for each country (wFRP). The **wintering FRP is 370,000 individuals for the entire population** after rounding (Table 4). Theoretically, an estimate of mid-winter FRPs can be calculated based on the breeding numbers for both MUs, but these values cannot be used in practice because in winter the two MUs mix particularly in Germany, the Netherlands and Belgium and a proportion of the birds winter outside of the range of the NW/SW European population⁹.

Wintering	NO	SE	DK	DE	NL	BE	FR	ES	Other
Breeding countries									
Norway (NO) ¹		0.3%	3.3%	14.7%	47.5%	2.0%	2.3%	29.8%	
Sweden (SE) ¹	1.0%	53.7%	7.8%	8.2%	25.5%	0.3%	1.0%	1.9%	1.0%
Finland (FI) ²		3.9%		3.9%	3.9%			19.4%	69.0%
Denmark (DK) ³			13.7%	9.6%	19.2%	4.1%	5.5%	48.0%	
Germany (DE) ³				98.2%	1.8%				
Netherlands (NL) ¹			0.2%	3.5%	92.5%	3.2%	0.1%		
Belgium (BE) ⁴					5.0%	95.0%			
France (FR) ⁴							100.0%		

Table 4. Distribution of re-sightings of Greylag Goose in wintering countries from various breeding countries

Keys:

¹ Based on data for mid-winter in the period of 2008-2012 in Bacon et al. (2019)

² Based on data for January in Appendix 2 in Andersson et al. (2001)

³ Based on data for mid-winter in the period in all years in Bacon et al. (2019)

⁴ Assumed. Breeding populations in these countries are very small and unlikely to influence the results significantly.

4. Favourable Reference Range (FRR)

The breeding FRR is estimated at 492,600 km² for MU1, 519,000 km² for MU2 and 1,012,007 km² for the entire population after rounding.

The **FRR for the non-breeding season** cannot be determined for the population and its MUs because national FRRs are not yet set in Spain and Germany (Table 3).

5. Favourable Reference Habitat (FRH)

All countries from MU1 reported that there is sufficient habitat to support the FRP in the **breeding season**. In MU2, there is sufficient habitat to support the FRP in Belgium and the Netherlands. No assessment is received

⁷ A multiplier factor of 3.63 has been used by Johnson in the Multi-criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA) to convert breeding pairs into mid-winter population estimate based on the conversion factor of 3.85 developed by Schekkerman (2012) between breeding pairs and July total population sizes and taking into account of mortality between July and January.

⁸ At the time of performing this calculation it was not possible to take into account the differences in resighting probabilities in different countries and to account for the spatial and temporal biases in the national datasets. Therefore, the wintering FRPs should be revised during the planning of the second AFMP when more representative tracking data is expected to be available.

⁹ Therefore, there is a difference of c. 7,500 birds between the sum of the wFRPs of the two MU and the wFRP of the population derived by adding up the calculated national wFRP values within the range of the flyway of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose.

from Germany (Table 1). Thus, the FRP is set at the level of the 2013–2018 level (Current Value) of the breeding population there and it is logically not possible that there would be not enough habitat to support the current population in that country. Consequently, there is sufficient habitat to support the FRP in all countries of the flyway.

For the **non-breeding season**, sufficiency of habitat cannot be assessed separately for the two MUs because of the mixing of individuals. Therefore, it is only evaluated at the national and at the population level.

Two countries (Germany and Spain) have not reported whether there is sufficient habitat to support the wintering FRP. In all the five other countries, there is sufficient habitat to support the FRP (Table 3).



Figure 2. Best single value estimates or geometric means of the minimum and maximum breeding population estimates for MUs 1 and 2 of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose population compared to the FRP and the target population size. The bold red lines represent the FRPs, the dark blue lines represent the agreed targets. DV: approximated based on Heath et al. (2000), AV: based on BirdLife International (2004), 2010s: based on BirdLife International (2015), ISSMP: based on the figures in Table 4 in the ISSMP, CV: based on EU Member States Birds Directive Article 12 reports, for Norway were used the values from the ISSMP; FRP: based on the FRP figures in Table 3 in this document.

6. **Population targets above the FRVs**

The ISSMP has also mandated the EGM IWG to set population targets above the FRP in the AFMP and it has been agreed to use the Multi-criteria Decision Analysis to solicit expert knowledge and stakeholder opinion. The MCDA process, see Johnson (2020b) in Annex 3 for details, has identified two candidate targets with

nearly identical scores, 0.7514 and 0.7513, respectively. Therefore, the preferred target was identified by the EGM IWG at its 5th meeting in June 2020.

<u>Targets for MU1 and MU2:</u> 70,000 and 80,000 breeding pairs, respectively, resulting in an approximate wintering population size of 545,000 individuals.

The proposed wintering population size target is approximately 70% of the population size reported in the ISSMP. This represents approximately 80% of the size of the breeding population in the ISSMP for MU1 and approximately 70% for MU2.

In MU1, the target (70,000 pairs) is more than twice as much as the FRP (31,000 pairs), but the target is only 10,000 – 15,000 pairs less than the ISSMP or the Current Value (Figure 2). Therefore, maintaining this population around the target would require a rather tight management of the offtake both through harvest and derogation at both the staging and wintering areas. Close coordination between the MU1 Range States is necessary and consideration needs to be given to the presence of MU1 birds in the areas of overlap with MU2 in the non-breeding season when devising management measures for MU2. MU1 This MU is a high priority for establishing a dynamic, model-based harvest management system.

In MU2, the target of 80,000 pairs is 10% higher than the FRP. In this MU, the CV is much higher than the value reported in the ISSMP mainly because of the substantially higher estimate for Germany (Figure 2). Current Values of the national populations in Germany, Belgium and France are close to the national bFRPs. Therefore, these populations require a tight management to ensure that they are maintained above the bFRP. However, a more substantial reduction c. 58,000 pairs) of the breeding population is possible in the Netherlands without failing to maintain the population around the target. However, the Netherlands shall exercise derogations with extra care after the arrival of birds from MU1.

7. Population Models to support harvest management

By adopting the ISSMP, Range States have agreed to maintain the population around the target level (Means Objective 4) and, to this end, to "*establish an internationally coordinated population management programme* (*including both hunting and, if necessary, killing under derogations*) for the transboundary management units encompassing monitoring, assessment and decision-making protocols" (Action 4.2).

Population models are important tools of adaptive flyway management to forecast the impacts of various offtake levels on the population size. However, up-to-date, coordinated, and reliable monitoring data on abundance and offtake throughout the flyway is not available currently. Hence, it is not possible to establish a model-based management of the population at this time.

Furthermore, Johnson (2020a; Annex 4 to this AFMP) concluded that reported estimates of Greylag Goose population size and/or offtake at the flyway level are likely biased. It suggests that the most pressing need is to investigate and strengthen monitoring protocols for Greylag Goose population size estimation and offtake both under hunting and derogation.

Hence, in the face of this deep uncertainty, an information-gap ("info-gap") decision model was developed to allow decision makers in the interim to make informed choices about the magnitude of offtake until more reliable monitoring information is available for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose.

As true levels of abundance and offtake on a management-unit basis are unknown, it is necessary to use the growth rate of the flyway population as an interim management criterion. The growth rate criterion has been selected based on the results of the MCDA analysis (Johnson, 2020b), which shows that the population target is likely to be at least 20% less than the current population size. In the face of deep uncertainty about current levels of offtake and abundance, a precautionary approach of seeking to reduce population size is necessary. Therefore, during EGM IWG5, in June 2020, it was proposed to adopt a management criterion of 15%

reduction in population size over 10 years, which means an annual growth rate of lambda = 0.98 (Figure 3). As it is unlikely to meet this criterion precisely, a growth rate of 0.96 < lambda < 1.00 was suggested as an acceptable range (i.e., population size decreasing by less than 4%/year). Accordingly, an increasing population, or a population declining more than 4% per year, would be considered unacceptable. Note that the lower limit of annual lambda = 0.96, if realized, would reduce population size by 34% in 10 years.

Based on this criterion, the info-gap analysis suggested that 40% increase in the nominal level of offtake compared to the offtake values mentioned in the ISSMP might be needed to achieve the above management criterion. However, the probability of meeting this management criterion is low (<20%) under all investigated scenarios in the face of deep uncertainty. This means that there is an 86% probability that the population will either increase or decline by more than 4% annually. Furthermore, the current level of offtake, and whether that has changed from that reported in the ISSMP, is unknown. Moreover, the info-gap analysis does not take into account special needs and population trajectories of the MUs and their different segments, and thus it carries a high risk of not meeting the MU-specific population targets if not replaced by a more reliable decision-making tool. Therefore, the info-gap decision analysis does not provide a sound basis for adaptive, dynamic decision-making, which ultimately will be necessary to reliably manage Greylag Goose abundance in accordance with population targets in the two management units. Only up-to-date, coordinated, and reliable monitoring data on abundance and offtake from throughout the flyway will allow us to realize that goal. In order to establish the preconditions for the dynamic, model-based management of the population in the long-term, the following actions need to be implemented before the 2023/2024 hunting season:

- 1) Establish the necessary monitoring frameworks outlined in Chapter 6;
- 2) Develop and present new population models by the EGM IWG in 2023.

During EGM IWG5, the Range States agreed on the management criterion of 15% reduction in population over 10 years, according to which up to 40% increase in the nominal level of offtake was possible. Thus, this criterion is used until a dynamic, model-based management shall be implemented in 2023/2024¹⁰.

¹⁰ Note that this management criterion applies to the entire flyway population and does not consider the status of the two separate MUs relative to their respective targets.



Figure 3. The proposed management of the NW/SE European population of Greylag Goose in relation to the FRP (bold red line) and to the population targets (blue line). The past population development is represented by the bars showing the annual imputed IWC totals and the arrow indicates the projected population trajectory based on the recommended 15% decline in 10 years.

8. Monitoring indicators and programmes

The ISSMP has mandated the EGM IWG to define in the AFMP indicators to measure the progress towards its Fundamental Objectives and to design a monitoring programme to collect the data for these indicators. The proposed indicators are presented in Table 5 for each Fundamental Objective and detailed indicator factsheets describing the rationale of the indicator selection, a more detailed definition of the indicator and the methodology of data collection, data flow, indicator calculation, gap filling and methodological uncertainties is provided in Annex 6.

Fundamental objective	Related indicators	Reporting dates
I. Maintain the population at a satisfactory level	I.1 Population size compared to the target population size	Annually by <mark>1 April</mark> (see also Chapter 6)
	I.2 Range extent compared to Favourable Reference Range (FRR)	31 Dec. 2025

Table 5. Indicators for fundamental objectives

II. Minimize	II.1 Relative change in damage payments	31 Dec. 2025
agricultural damage	11.1 Relative change in damage payments	51 Dec. 2025
and conflicts		
III. Minimize the risk to public health	III.1 Risk of zoonotic influenza transmission to the general public	No national reporting required
and air safety	III.2 Number of bird strikes with aircrafts caused by Greylag Goose	31 Dec. 2025
	III.3 Number of Greylag Geese passing over commercial airports	31 Dec. 2025
IV. Minimize the risk to other flora and fauna	IV.1 Area of natural habitat or habitat of threatened species negatively affected by Greylag Goose	31 Dec. 2025
V. Maximise	V.1 Number of people enjoying watching geese	31 Dec. 2025
ecosystem services	V.2 Number of recreational Greylag Goose hunters	31 Dec. 2025
	V.3 Number of Greylag Geese killed and used	31 Dec. 2025
VI. Minimise costs of goose management	VI.1 Relative change in cost of goose management	31 Dec. 2025
VII. Provide hunting opportunities that are consistent with maintaining the population at a satisfactory level	VII.1 Available sustainable hunting quota	Annually at the EGM IWG meeting

9. **Protocols for the iterative phase**

Management evaluation and adaptation of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose follows three iterative phases running in parallel (Figure 4):

- 1. A 10/12-year cycle of the ISSMP¹¹;
- 2. Two 6-year cycles of the AFMP, and within the AFMP:
 - 3. 1-year cycles of:
 - i. Indicators/monitoring related to population models/harvest assessment;
 - ii. Update of population models and harvest assessment;
 - iii. Annual implementation of actions by range states;
 - iv. Update work plans.

ISSMP

12 year cycle of evaluation and adaptation related to:

- Goals
- Objectives (Fundamental, Means and Process)
- Alternative actions related to objectives

AFMP

- 6 year cycle of evaluation and adaptation related to:
- Management Units
- FRVs
- Box 1
- Population target
- Population models
- Impact models
- Protocol for the iterative phases
 - The range of and methods for indicators and programs
 - The state of indicators and evaluation towards achieving objectives

1 year cycle monitoring and assessment related to:

- The state of indicators related to population models/harvest assessment
 - Evaluating progress toward achieving objectives
 - Identify appropriate management actions
 - Increase understanding of population dynamics
 - Refine models of population dynamics
 - Update and report on work plans for the Task Force, Data Centre, AEWA Secretariat and Range States
- National implementation and, if needed, adaptation of harvest regulations

Figure 4. Flow chart of the three iterative phases of the AFMP

¹¹ The lifespan of the ISSMP is 10 years. However, it might be logical for the EGM IWG to recommend to the AEWA MOP to expand it to 12 years to include two 6-year-long AFMPs.

10. 10/12-year cycle of the ISSMP

The 10/12 year¹² cycle of the ISSMP encompasses evaluation and adaptation related to:

- Goals;
- Objectives (Fundamental, Means and Process);
- Alternative actions related to objectives.

11. 6-year cycle of the AFMP

The 6-year cycle of the AFMP encompasses evaluation and adaptation related to:

- Management Units (Chapter 1);
- FRVs (Chapter 2);
- Box 1 (Annex 2);
- Population target (Chapter 3, Annex 3);
- Population models (Chapter 4, Annex 4);
- Impact models (Annex 5);
- Protocol for the iterative phases (Chapter 6);
- The range of and methods for indicators and programs (Chapter 5, Annex 6);
- The state of indicators and evaluation towards achieving objectives (Chapter 5, Annex 6).

The AFMP is evaluated and adapted next time in 2026 by the EGM IWG.

12. 1-year cycles within the AFMP

The annual cycle within the AFMP encompasses monitoring and assessment related to:

- The state of indicators related to population models/harvest assessment (Action 4.2 in the ISSMP);
- Evaluating progress toward achieving objectives;
- Identify appropriate management actions;
- Increase understanding of population dynamics;
- Refine models of population dynamics;
- Update and report on work plans for the Task Force, Data Centre, AEWA Secretariat and Range States (Annex 1);
- National implementation and, if needed, adaptation of harvest regulations.

Indicators/monitoring related to objectives and population models

Short-term (2020-2022) needs to set the stage for MU-based models in 2023

From June 2020 to June 2022 the "info-gap" decision model will be used to identify possible management actions at the population level (Chapter 4, Annex 4). However, the info-gap does not allow management of Greylag Goose towards separate abundance targets in the two management units. Therefore, the following activities shall take place to set the stage for MU-based models in 2023 (in parenthesis the relevant years for this phase are listed):

- 1. An evaluation of potential bias in reported offtake in each range state (between 2020-2022);
- 2. Development and implementation of a coordinated and systematic monitoring program including development of indicator fact sheets for the long-term data need (2020-2022);

¹² Currently the timespan of the ISSMP is 10 years, but it might be logical to expand it by two years to include two 6-year AFMP cycles.

- 2. Monitoring of:
 - a. Mid-winter population counts for each range state (January 2021 and 2022);
 - b. Breeding pairs per range state derived either from:
 - Option A: Summer counts per range state + proportions of young and older birds (July 2020¹³ and 2021) + development of protocol to convert summer counts to breeding pairs (2020-2022);
 - Option B: Number of breeding pairs per range state from reporting to the Article 12 of Bird Directive for the period of 2013-2018 + Common Bird Monitoring Index (2020 and 2021);
 - c. Offtake (harvest + derogation) per range state, distinguished between "breeding" period (1 February-31 July) and "post-breeding" period (1 August-31 January) seasons where possible (season 2020/21 and 2021/22);
 - d. Crippling rate for the same periods as offtake (season 2020/21 and 2021/22);
 - e. Multi-state Capture-Marking-Resighting (CMR) analysis to estimate annual survival rates and MU transition probabilities (between 2020-2022);
- 3. Data collation and analysis (April-May 2021 and 2022);
- 4. Harvest assessment at population level (May 2021 and 2022);
- 5. Decision making (EGM IWG) (mid-June 2021 and 2022);
- 6. Implementation by Range States (2021 and 2022).

During the period June 2020-June 2022, it will not be possible to make management recommendation at MU level. Furthermore, for optimal management recommendations, monitoring data shall be submitted the same year as the data is collected, e.g. monitoring activities from the season 2020/2021 shall ideally be submitted by 30 April 2021 and used during the assessment in 2021. However, during the period 2020-2022, this is not possible, and management recommendations will be based on data from the previous season. Hence the assessment in 2021 will be based on data from the season 2019/20, and the assessment in 2022 will be based on data from the season 2020/2021. This also means that existing data from before 2019/2020, which is not already submitted to the Data Centre, should be submitted before the assessment in 2021.

Progress on monitoring activities are reported in the annual EGMP Population Status and Assessment Report.

Long-term needs for annual monitoring

To be able to carry out modelling of abundance and offtake as well as management at MU level, a coordinated and systematic monitoring program must be established and maintained. The monitoring program and the specific activities are listed below. The activities shall start up at the time indicated below in parenthesis and thereafter continued and take place each year, and every 3 year for "Number of breeding pairs per range state from reporting of the Bird Directive" in Option B:

- 1. Monitoring of:
 - a. Midwinter counts for each range state (from January 2023 onwards);
 - b. Breeding pairs per range state based on:
 - Option A: Summer counts per range state + proportions of young and older birds (from July 2022 onwards);
 - Option B: Number of breeding pairs per range state from reporting to the Article 12 of Bird Directive for the period of 2013-2018 + repeated in every 3 or 6 years (i.e. in 2021 and/or 2024, to be agreed by the EGM IWG) + Common Bird Monitoring Index (from 2022 onwards)

¹³ Only for existing setups.

- c. Offtake (harvest + derogation) per range state, distinguished between "breeding" period (1 February-31 July) and "post-breeding" period (1 August-31 January) seasons (from season 2022/23 onwards);
- d. Crippling rate for the same periods as offtake (from season 2022/23 onwards)
- e. Multi-state CMR analysis including the process of capturing and marking
- f. Optional: samples of tail fans or wings in early autumn to index reproductive success
- 2. Data collation and analysis (from April-May 2023 onwards)
- 3. Optimal harvest strategy at MU level (from May 2023 onwards)
- 4. Decision making (EGM IWG) (from mid-June 2023 onwards)
- 5. Implementation by Range States (from 2023 onwards)

Based on this information, it will be possible to make the first management recommendation at MU level at the EGM IWG meeting in 2023 the earliest, provided that necessary data is made available. Furthermore, during the assessment in 2023 and onwards, up-to-date data have to be available, hence during the assessment in 2023 data from the season 2022/2023 shall be used.

Monitoring data is to be submitted to the EGMP Data Centre on an annual basis, and in a timely manner before the annual IWG meeting, hence no later than **1** April. This is for the Data Centre and Modelling Consortium to perform the assessment and the EGMP Data Centre to produce status reports providing recommendations to the annual IWG meetings.

13. References

- Andersson, Å., Follestad, A., Nilsson, L., & Persson, H. (2001). Migration patterns of Nordic greylag geese Anser anser. *Ornis Svecica*, 11(1), 19-58.
- Bacon, L., Madsen, J., Jensen, G. H., de Vries, L., Follestad, A., Koffijberg, K., . . . Nilsson, L. (2019). Spatio-temporal distribution of greylag goose Anser anser resightings on the north-west/south-west European flyway: guidance for the delineation of transboundary management units. *Wildlife Biology*, 2019(1).
- **BirdLife International. (2004).** *Birds in Europe: population estimates, trends and conservation status.* (BirdLife Conservation Series No. 12).
- BirdLife International. (2015). European Red List of Birds. Retrieved from http://datazone.birdlife.org/info/euroredlist
- **DG Environment. (2017).** Reporting under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive: Explanatory notes and guidelines for the period 2013-2018. In (pp. 188). Brussels: European Commission.
- Heath, M., Borggreve, C., & Peet, N. (2000). *European Bird Populations: Estimates and Trends*. BirdLife International/European Build Census Council. Cambridge, UK: BirdLife International (BirdLife Conservation Series No. 10).
- Johnson, F. A. (2020a). Management of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese: decision making under deep uncertainty.
- Johnson, F. A. (2020b). Setting population-size targets for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese using multi-criteria decision analysis.
- Polowny, T., Jensen, G. H., Nagy, S., Czajkowski, A., Fox, A. D., Lewis, M., & Madsen, J. (2018). AEWA International Single Species Management Plan for the Greylag Goose (Anser anser): Northwest/Southwest European population. AEWA Technical Series No. 71. Bonn, Germany.

Annex 1. Annual workplans

According to the ISSMP for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose, the AFMPs set out annual workplans for the ISSMP actions relevant for the population/management unit. At the current stage, due to the limited data available on the population size and offtake, Greylag Goose harvest cannot be managed at MU-level. In addition, most management actions will be overlapping. Therefore, it is proposed to establish one workplan for both management units. As the role of the workplan is to guide the implementation of the ISSMP, the prioritisation and timescale agreed in the ISSMP provides a framework for the work planning process. The ISSMP prioritises actions as Essential, High and Medium priority and assigns time-scales to actions as follows: *Immediate*: launched within the next year, *Short*: launched within the next 3 years, *Medium*: launched within the next 5 years, *Long*: launched within the next >5 years, *Ongoing*: currently being implemented and should continue, *Rolling*: to be implemented perpetually. In essence, this timescale system can be seen as a mechanism to stagger the implementation of actions taking into account both their dependencies and urgencies (Figure 5).

The timescale in combination with the priorities set in the ISSMP can be used to phase the implementation of actions. Thus, the most important would be to implement Essential actions that have an Immediate timing, followed by High priority with Immediate timing, etc.

Implementation of the ISSMP requires work by different entities (Figure 6). Some actions should be done at national level as part of national workplans.

Immediate				
Launched within next year, i.e. by 2019	Short Launched	Medium		
	within next 3 years, i.e. by 2021	Launched within next 5 years, i.e. by 2023	Launched within the next 5+ years	
		_	i.e. can be later than 2023	

Figure 5. Timescale for the implementation of the ISSMP for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose.

To facilitate coordination amongst Range States and to develop these specific workplans, a species-specific Task Force for the Greylag Goose (<u>AEWA/FGMIWG/5.15</u>) was established at EGM IWG5.

In addition, the coordination of cross-cutting tasks have been taken up by a cross-cutting TF (e.g. the Agriculture TF) and through coordination amongst the EGMP Task Force coordinators during joint meetings.

Each EGM IWG entity contributing to the implementation of the ISSMP for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose uses a common structure to produce its own workplan. This structure includes the ISSMP actions relevant for the time period (i.e. 2020/2021 between the 5th and 6th meeting of the EGM IWG), their priority and timescale as defined in the ISSMP, list of activities to be implemented by the entity (e.g. a Range State, the Greylag Goose Task Force, Data Centre and the relevant cross-cutting Task Forces). It is recommended that in the initial period, the EGM IWG entities focus on implementing the activities that have a timescale of Immediate or Short and focus first on the Essential ones followed by High and then by the Medium priorities as capacity allows.

Following various online meetings in the period of 2020-2021, the workplans of the Greylag Goose TF, the Agriculture TF, the EGMP Data Centre, as well as the national workplans have been developed and shall be adopted in June 2021 at EGM IWG6. The workplans are envisaged to be dynamic workplans, regularly updated and potentially serving a reporting purpose on the progress of implementation.



The current version is presented here as at 18 May 2021.

Greylag Goose NW/SW European Population AFMP Annual Workplan 2021/2022

				Activities carried out by										
Type of action					Agri TF	Ad hot cross cutting TF	Greylag Goose Task Force	Belgium	Denmark		France	Norway	Sweden	
National	1.1 Provide adequate protection and management to key sites of international importance under Artisle 4(2) of the Birds Directive in the EU and other relevant instruments in other Range Status throughout the range of the population and maintain them in good ecological status	Essential	Short / Rolling	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States				Sites with international importance identified and protected. Formal conservation for these sites have been agreed.	Key sites protected as SPAs.	Key sites protected in as SPA areas. Management foreseen to be covered by HELMI program		out their rodstorg sites are often	Regulated in nature conservation and hunting jurisdiction	
x	1.2 Promote goose-based eco-tourism at selected key sites	Medium	Medium	Collate information on people enjoying watching BG (Indicator V.1)		Collate projects and initiatives		protected. Formal conservation for these sites have been agreed. In BE goose-based eco-tourism is rather based on pinkfoot and whitefronted gress.	No need to promote further - existing ecotourism sites attract visitors anyway. For example the		Mainly two parts of France are involved in goose-based eco-tourism activities : Camargue and Lac du Der	geese are safe and hence sustainable managed. All over Norway, in both protected and important wetland areas, bird watching towers with relevant	In most concentration areas or hotspots there are accorrodations for public, such as bird towers and/or	
									Wadden Sea National Park.		(bird watching, photography testival)) informative posters are established. At some places there are also locally initiated eco-tourisms in the form of presentations (e.g. Vestfold) and guided tours (e.g. (Srlandet).	In most concentration areas or hotspots there are accomodations for public, used in bird towen and/or information signs. We don't know of any tourtme activities aimed specially for groyfor, but in some places as a partof a "nature package".	
National	 Take key sites for geese into account in land use planning and growing of sensitive crops[1] 	High	Immediate / Rolling					Crop damage is mostly due to the breeding population in the vicinity of nature reserves (limited cases per year). The problem is limited ordered he addressed by:	Greylag not a critical problem - although local problems exist. Hunting (/derogation) alleviates most problems.		Crop damage are not significant. Grey goose occupy already keys sites. Not evidence of any occupation in wintering season.	already occupy areas where there are sensitive crops, and there are several initiatives to guide and share	Damage Center and CAB provides information for farmers. Guidelines and compensation of damages for all	
								Crop damage is mostly due to the breeding population in the vicinity of nature reserves (limited cases per year). The problem is limited and can be addressed by derogation (scaring by shooting, resulting in very few birds shot). The wintering population does not cause a lot of crop damage.				fences, and scaring devises like lasers, etc.). This is an orgoing and	species near or close to key sites, 5 or 10 km länk	
National	2.2. Provide accommodation areas to reduce risks and conflicts at sensitive areas through e.g. subsidies[2]	Medium	Medium/ Rolling	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States				In designated areas for wintering waterbirds, scaring is not needed as a condition to receive a compensation for crop-damage from wintering greese.	Greylag not a critical problem - although local problems exist. Hunting (/derogation) alleviates most problems.	Bird fields' for accommodation areas are currently prepared in the context of Barnache Goose damage management. 'Bird fields' are also foreseen to be part of the future CAP in Finland, but this in preparation.	Low risks and conflicts at sensitive areas.	prioritized activity. At present there are no accommodition areas designated specifically for graying gense in Nerway, other than the protected wetland neres already helding significant numbers of genese at different time periods of the year.	Accomodation areas/hare crops for resting and gracing birds are provided in most counties where geese appear.	
National and Cross-cutting	2.3 Apply scaring and land management techniques to reduce the attractiveness of sensitive areas, monitoring the implications of such local displacement for conflicts at wider scale[3]	High	Short / Rolling	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States		Sharing experience / Coordination with other TFs	Sharing experience / Coordination with other TFs	Scaring is needed in order to be able to get derogation or to receive a	Conclusion and a collinal conclusion	in Finland, but this in preparation.	Idem	significant numbers of greese at different time periods of the year. A range of research and monitoring initiatives are ongoing to evaluate	Done in great scale by farmers, subsidies provided by the CAB.	
	wike scarp)							adding is intered in total or over two to get designification or to reverve a compensation for the crop-damage (what compensation concern, as above, only a condition outside the accorrodiation areas).	most problems.			A range of research and monitoring irritatives are conging to evaluate the effect of various measures implemented in order to reduce the attractiveness of sensitive area. These irritatives have high priorities, and a project at the lendscape level (Predelatad manicipality, south- Norwag) is in a planning phase, potentially being a demonstration case. See also 2.1.	education.	
National	3.1. Reduce risk posed by goose migration to air safety through operational measures such as radar surveillance[4]	High	Short / Rolling	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States				No specific activities. Geese are not specificly in the picture as a big risk near the airports and are taken together with other binds by Bind Control Units.	Local measures in place around each airport.		Same measures taken as for other birds. In Marignan airport specifics mesures concerns only tetrax betrax.	No specific activities at present, but information on bird collisions with aircrafts are collected and evaluated at the Asian Bird Office of Norway. A	For the moment, not a major problem in Sweden, according to Swedish Transport Agency.	
x	3.2 Establish an internationally coordinated programme to assess agricultural damage including monitoring and assessment protocols	High	Short	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States			Agri TF Coordinator update the GG TF, exchange information	Consol Units.			cí मार	project combining the bird strike there and eco-tourism is in the planning phase in Central-Norway. The Norwayian Environment Agency financially support the activities in	Widtlife Damage Center is a part of the EGMP Agriculture TF.	
					 Support the DC and MC as consultants in the process, both during the development of the impact models as well as afterwards. 2) Discuss and share experience in a possible workshop to be organised in auturn 2021 							the Apriculture Task Forces where these elements are discussed. An EGMP webback where experiences, information and insteadingle sharing will occur, will be organised in Ta22. We expect that outcome of this webback will provide suggestors and guidelines for next steps also in the coordination of monitoring and assessment protocols.		
	3.3 Lissie with farmers affected by goose damages to reduce agricultural owfflets	High	Short / Rolling			x	Cross-cutting TFs, share information	The corpernation scheme is working well, providing a fair compensation for the damage done.			Apticulutural conflicts have not been identified at this stage.	a The Norwegian Envisonment Agency cover expenses of a position at the Norwegian Farment' Union with a primary role to be a link between management decisions and local manicipal implementation, assisting farmers in sustainable farming in Endocapse with genes. Communicating and informing about preventive measures in oxider to reduce cop damage and coefficis are also important tasks.		
Done (for now)	4.1 Establish hierarchical population targets at flyway, management unit and nutional levels iteratively to ensure national targets are consistent with the flyway targets and with legal requirements at all levels	Essential	Short				Have a discussion, recommendation for EGM IN/G6	BE has already set population targets at the (sub-jnational scale in 2010 for the wintering population. Through the EGMP process, these levels have been communicated as input from BE to communicated as input from BE			Done	are also important tasks. To be planned for.	Done	
This is the AFMP	4.2 Establish in internationally coordinated population management programme (including both hunting and, if necessary, killing under derogations) for the transborndary management units encompassing monitoring, assessment and decision- making protocols	Essential	Short	Provide updated population data, assessments and harvest quotas (once an AHM program has ben set up)				been contributation as input non ac to ensure consistency. BE supports the international programme but is not considering to play a substantial role in population management. Focus of hunting in BE lies in keeping a breeding population at a safe level while minimising agricultural conflict.			Cf. orgoing programme	Norway support the ongoing programmer, and coordinate activities.	Participating	
	4.3 Improve effectiveness of population control measures through experimenting with different timing and methods and better understanding the relative efficacy of lethal versus non-lethal scaring techniques	High	Medium					at a state seven while minimizing agricultural conflict. Experiments have been carried out in the past, but mostly targeted on pinkboted goose. For greykag derogation can limit the agricultural conflicts; for pinkket no easy standard derogation possibilities are foreseen in 18, hence the focus of			Agriculutural damage have not been identified.	This has not been evaluated at a large-scale yet, but a few case studies exist. Improving the effectiveness of decapation in Norway would need a research project.	Wildlife Damage Center and current research projects.	
	4.4 Promote best practices of goose hurting including timing to minimize damage and significant disturbance to other species	Medium	Medium / Rolling			PIG, TBG, GG, BG	Exchange information and experience. Collate, summarise results (possibly workshop, time + resources needed -	In determine the second	Hunting in August is only allowed on farmland, and only at a distance of min. 300 m from open water.	The early season 10-20 argust hunting of GG is only allowed on agricultural lands. Hunthers are encouraged to focus hunting in areas of sensitive crops and to nestrain from hunting in areas where geese can forage whoto classing damage to sensitive crops.		Several goose hunting projects have been performed in coder to iderby optimal timing of hunting. Disturbance effects on other species are limited in Norway during autumn hunt.	Hunters exam deals with these issues, a specific goose hunders course has been developed by Hunters organization. Plans on further information and education, Widdle Dumage Center in	
	4.5 Maintain low crippling rates	High	Medium / Rolling	Setup a data collection system to monitor and colaite information periodically		P(G, TBG, GG, BG ; Central data base	Exchange information and experience. Investigate GG cripping rates.	No actions foresean for the moment	A national compaten is being	to sensitive crops. Finland is foreseeing to raise this			cooperation with Hunter's organisation As above	
	4.6 Develop hunting techniques to further reduce crippling	Medium	Long / Rolling			PÍG, TBG, GG, BG	Exchange information and experience. Collate, summarise results (possibly workshop, time + resources needed -	No actions foreseen for the moment.				practical parts of a recently developed goose hunting course in Norway. See 4.5	As above	
	A.1 Produce and update periodically spatially explicit population size estimates based on asseed international monitorine	Essential	Short / Rolling	Setup a data collection system				In previous years, the summer population was estimated by mid-july	meters shooting distance.	Finland is toreseeing to raise this issue in the communication to and education of hunters as a partof wider waterfowing issues covering ducks and genee Monitoring scheme for both size and development of GG population is		A process for developing population estimates will be initiated in 2021	Lunds university	
								population was estimated by mid-july counts as a part of a project. In 2021 will be experimented if this can be continued to a satisfactory level by involving the volunteer network of the winter mid-monthly waterbird cersus.		ducks and genese Manihoring scheme for both size and development of GG population is under progress in Finland (LUKC). LUKC is communicating and coordinating with DC and nordic countrins when developing the monitoring of GG.		A process for developing population estimates will be initiated in 2022 with expected estimates given for Norway in 2022. The initiative is coordinated among the Scandinavian countries.		
	A2 Manian a annuly updated bag statistics dashee techning gene harvestel by any mean			mentor and collate information			Consultation	the wolf mith-anathyl sutariting to creat. Nations regard newy using their housing begin the super housing the subherline. Derogation data have the subherline. These data are lead to the derogation concerns aring by shooting thy a hundry, the data are estimated to concern only a small rember.	Northers must report gome bags of all species on an arroual basis.	LUXE Regular work. Currently harvest toge extinutes is based on address angle desinters and harvest tog constitutions. There is harvest toge constitution of the harvest toge constitution of the Dangetion reporting is mandatory.		represention on serious goalse- impacted familiand. It may be practiced in the breeding seasons as a last solution to protect crop. Genes may be shot, but not at a scale that reduces the local population. The measure is primarily for scaring and crop protection. All relevant results will be reported to the AEWA EGM num.		
	A.3 Maintain a spatially explicit database on goose damage to agriculture, other flora and fisma and risk to air safety			armounty or every 5 years (acx 1)	Comple available information in a metadata overview about ongoing projecti, activities regarding geese and agriculture		Liable with Agri TT inguenc in Norway there is an "active" database about birdstrikes (gesse), NL as well, France (air safety)				Goose damage not enough significant to maintain database on the subject.		or fauna, data on air safety is compiled by Swedish Transport Agency	
	A 4 Collect demographic (montality, reproduction, differential migration and connectivity) data from an agreed representative sampling framework across the range	High	Short / Rolling	Set up a data collection system to monitor and collate information annually				Under establishment. In 2021 there will be a brief to have a statistically sound sample on some breeding cores.	Awaiting funding.	Collecting of data on mortality and movements of linnish GG is already carried out by marking a marking schem (GPS tags and neckbards). Estimates on productivity will be carried out along with population moritoring, and is communicated with DC by URX.		Under etsablishment. Jovensle assessments in early August will be provided on an annual basis based on flock registrations at representative locations.	Large orgoing project, SLU and Rristianstads university	
×	A.5 Analyse the impact of various agricultural policy scenarios and measures (Nitrate Directive, agri-environmental measures, various production incentives including biofuels) on goose populations and on goose damage	High	Long					No such analysis foreseen for the moment.			Not conducted at this stage.	Not conducted in Norway at present		
x	A & Assess the role of predators (e.g., White-larled Eagle Haltacetus attentia, Red Fox Vulpes vulpes) in regulating goose populations B 1 Produce best practice guide on establishing refuge areas (size, management,	Medium	Long Short	Collate input information from scientific projects for population models	Meet online, share experience and knowledge	TF to deal with all the Es, under		No such analysis is foreseen for the moment. Refuge areas are mainly nature reserves or parts threat areas are red		The on-going GPS tagging will shed light on the role of predators as a cause of mortality.		Not conducted in Norway at present Some fragmented data exist. Not conducted in Norway at present	Not for the moment Widlife Management Center and CAB. Guidelines for CAB and farmers	
x	subsidies) B 2 Provide auidance on conflict resolution and how to make this consistent with the	High	Short		Meet online, share experience and			Refuge areas are mainly nature reserves or agricultural areas around, where agricultural damage is compensated in an easier way than standard. Compensation of crop-damage is well				See 12	Guidance to County Administrative	
x	12. Torong planare cost including and many metal planare pl	High	Short	Provide monitoring protocol; Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States	knowledge Meet online, share experience and	discussion		Comparation of the formation of the second of the second of the fact means. In Flanders, significant damage is benchmarked in legislation: 2506 per case or 55% of the total cropy yield. Minimum Newls of scaring are decided by Ministerial Decreme as a threshold for derogation and				See 12	Guidelines, standardaized protocols for inspection of damaged crops	
x	B-4 Provide guidance on implementation of population management protocols at national level	Medium	Medium			TF to deal with all the Bs, under discussion		decided by Ministerial Decree as a threshold for decogriton and compensation. Not conducted yet at present. Hurters are not too keen on goose- hunting. Hunting is carried out in order to keep agricultural coefficies with the breeding population to a satisfactory level.				Not conducted in Norway at present	Guidelines	
x	B.5 Share experience concerning methods to prevent damage to agriculture and risks to human health, air safety as well as to other flora and fauna.	Medium	Medium	Maintain and update Box 1 reporting from Range States	Discuss and share experience in a possible workshop to be organised in autumn 2021	TF to deal with all the Bs, under discussion		with the breeding population to a satisfactory level. Best practices have been concluded and shared. A minimum-level of scaring is decided by Ministerial Decree as a threshold for derogation				Norway takes actively part in the EGMP process, including sharing of information. For local outreach there	Participating, mainly through Wildlife Damage Center	
×	C.1 Develop and implement a communication strategy and plan	Medium	Short / Rolling			x		Decree as a threshold for deropation and compensation. For Flanden, best practices have been concluded and shared. A minimum-level of scaring is decided by Ministerial Decree as a threshold for derogation and compensation.			Task Force mission ?	In a designated position in the Norwegian Farmer' Urtion for some of this. See also 3.2 Not conducted in Norway at present		
National	D.1 Range States review their national legislation in the light of the framework legal guidance document developed under the EGMP	High	Short				outputs, not only announce meetings	As BE nor the BE hunters are demanding to actively play a role in the international population control, this is not planned on the short term.	Done		? (legal basis)	Will be developed	Partly under development, bag statistics reporting system	
National National	E.1 Range States contribute on a regular basis to the budget of the EGMP E.2 National and regional governments secure the necessary funds for the implementation of the actions at national and sub-national levels	Essential Essential	Ongoing / Rolling Rolling					tria is not parined on the short term. Done. Partly done.	Done Partly done		Done	Done Partly done	Done Some actions, some not. National system for compensation and subsidies is fully financed at the moment.	
	ATMP actions	Wat	L-11 0											
	Provide assessment of extent and quality of habitat	High	by 31 December 2020 by 31 December 2020 by 31 December 2020											
	Provide FRP for the brending season Review Draft AFMP before submission to EGM IWG5	High	by 31 December 2020 April 2021	**	88		**							

Annex 2. Box 1 of the ISSMP for the Greylag Goose – Analysis Concerning Damage and Site Protection

Summary

- The population of Greylag Goose is increasing on the long-term and stabilising on the short-term
- We have limited knowledge and data on the actual costs in most ranges states but see increasing costs in the Netherlands in a period with a relatively stable population.
- Due to a high variation between the views from the different range states, there is high degree of uncertainty towards what methods that have an effect.
- Greylag Goose is one of the goose species most frequently reported to have been involved in birdstrikes.
- Many airports expect an increase in problems associated with the presence of geese in the future.

Aim

The International Single Species Management Plans (ISSMP) for the Barnacle Goose *Branta leucopsis* (Jensen et al. 2018) and Greylag Goose *Anser anser* (Powolny et al. 2018) and the related population-specific Adaptive Flyway Management Programs (AFMP) aim to establish an agreement amongst Range States on the strategic goals and objectives of the conservation and management of the species and more specifically each of the populations and management units.

The ISSMP requires the use of a more detailed analysis concerning damage and site protection, as set out in Box 1 of the ISSMP with the purpose to share information on the effectiveness of the measures to prevent damage and to assist Range States in assessing the need for derogations from the provisions of Article 5 of the Birds Directive and in coordinating the implementation of their derogation schemes.

At the 4th Meeting of the AEWA European Goose Management International Working Group (EGM IWG 4; Perth, Scotland 18-20 June 2019), the EGM IWG agreed on the proposed outline and content of the AFMP and took note of the proposed timelines and steps, as well as data and resources needed.

This text aims at reporting the obtained information in a transparent way, providing a baseline for the future work.

Box 1

The ISSMP envisages the use of more detailed analysis of data on damage to agriculture and risk to air safety and to other flora and fauna as set out in Box 1 (Fig. 1) and the following action to improve consistency in states' decision-making regarding derogations and the consistency of their justifications: "Create a toolbox for decisions in relation to determining significant damage (including metrics, benchmarking, verification, monitoring, various management techniques to prevent damage, compensation)."

Similar processes were proposed for the two species, Greylag Goose and Barnacle Goose.

Timeline

In September 2019, an agreement between the donor, the Government of the Federal State of Germany and the recipient, the Secretariat of African-Eurasian Migratory Waterbird Agreement (AEWA) was signed for the EGMP Data Centre to undertake the analysis of Box 1 of the ISSMPs for the Barnacle Goose and Greylag Goose.

In the spring of 2020, all Range States responded to a detailed questionnaire with several sheets in an Excel file for each of the two species. The requests on air safety issues were kept separately since other national institutions were expected to be better capable of replying to these questions. Due to problems at airports, because of the crisis following the pandemic, the reporting on these issues was performed over a longer period, covering 2020 and spring 2021. The process was reported at the EGMP IWG5 meeting in 2020 and the final results should be reported by spring 2021 and presented for EGMP IWG6 in June 2021.

Box 1. Information needed in each AFMP concerning damage and site protection.

To the extent that derogations from the provisions of Articles 5-8 of the Birds Directive (or the protections prescribed by the Bern Convention) may be appropriate for addressing the problems posed by Greylag Geese, AFMPs have the potential to assist Range States in assessing whether such derogations are necessary and in coordinating the implementation of their derogation schemes. Each AFMP should therefore contain information that is relevant for assessing the need for derogations at Range State level.

This should include:

- i. Characterisation of the spatial and temporal extent and trends of damage to agriculture and of risks to human health and air safety as well as to other flora and fauna that can be attributed to the population/MU in question, including predicted future changes in these;
- ii. A description of the methods applied in the past assessments for each country and recommendations for the development of future guidelines for assessments;
- iii. Description of the methods applied or tested to prevent damages and to reduce risks, their effectiveness and sufficiency to tackle the problem;
- iv. Understanding of the link between population level and damages or risk.

Each AFMP shall also contain information on habitat conservation measures including designation of Special Protection Areas (SPAs) under Article 4(2) of the Birds Directive:

- i. List of SPAs and other protected areas designated for the Greylag Goose;
- ii. Management of the species and the damage inside and outside SPA;
- iii. Tackling damage prevention inside and outside SPAs (accommodation areas, derogations, etc.)

Figure 1. Box 1 was included in the International Single Species Management Plan (ISSMP) for the Greylag Goose *Anser anser* (Powolny et al. 2018).

The issues are reported separately, first showing a section related to agricultural damages followed by a section related to air safety matters.

Agricultural damages

Methods

A questionnaire was developed and sent to each range state of the population, one questionnaire for each population (Table 1). These questionnaires were structured to correspond to each of the numbers in Box 1 and the respondents were requested to fill in as detailed information as possible. This resulted in a high variation in the level of new information reflecting the large difference in activities related to the various aspects across countries.

Results and discussion

The results are presented and discussed following the order in Box 1.

The reporting rate varied considerably between countries and issues (Table 1).

Table 1. Overview of provided information by each range state. The information in the upper row refers to the numbers in Box 1. ia &iia refer to agricultural damages, ib & iib to damages to other flora and fauna, iv-b to breeding and iv-w to winter.

Country	ia	ib	iia	iib	iii	iv-b	iv-w	SPAii-
								iii
BE	X		X		X	X	X	X
DE						X	X	
DK		X			X	X	X	X
ES Andalusia	X						X	X
FI					X			
FR								
NL	X		X		X	X	X	
NO					X	X		
SE					X		X	X

France stated that there are no goose damages in the country and hence no derogation shooting.

(i) Characterisation of the spatial and temporal extent and trends of damage to agriculture and of risks to human health and air safety as well as to other flora and fauna that can be attributed to the population/MU in question, including predicted future changes in these;

Two countries, the Netherlands and Belgium, reported estimated damages to agriculture by Greylag Geese. The damage level is reported much higher in the Netherlands than in Belgium amounting to c. 2.5-4 m Euros annually during the breeding period (2010-2018) and c. 2.5-9.4 m Euros during winter (2010-2017). While the estimated damages are reported to be stable during winter, the damages during the breeding period have increased significantly during this period. In Belgium, the damages during winter are caused by mixed flocks, including Greater White-fronted and Barnacle Geese, and estimated for Greylag Goose to be 2,500-8,000 Euro

annually in 2014-2018. In the breeding season, the estimated damages have increased c. 10-fold from 2011-2014 to the present level, which varies from c. 40,000 Euros in 2017 to c. 15,000 Euros in 2018.

One country, Denmark, reported damage to other flora and fauna that can be attributed to Greylag Geese and referred to Pedersen et al. (2016) who reported that defecation from roosting Greylag Geese resulted in eutrophication of lobelia lakes affecting the following freshwater macrophyte species: *Lobelia dortmanna*, *Littorella uniflora, Isoetes lacustris*. This is a habitat type (3110) covered by the EU Habitats Directive.

(ii) A description of the methods applied in the past assessments for each country and recommendations for the development of future guidelines for assessments;

Two countries, the Netherlands and Belgium, reported an existing assessment.

In the Netherlands, farmers notify the governmental body BIJ12 of crop damage. BIJ12 sends an appraiser to the fields to determine damage. If needed, a graduated survey rod is used. Based on these measurements and crop values agricultural damage is calculated. Dependent on the location, time of year and species, 80-95% of crop damage is remunerated by the provincial government to farmers.

In Belgium, damage compensation schemes exist in designated areas where no hunting is allowed. Prescriptions are described by the Flemish Government (2009). Most often, Greylag Geese can be hunted when agricultural damage is experienced (mostly in summer, near harvest time), derogation is applied in cooperation with local hunters in order to address the problem fast. In this situation, damage is not reported so no overview is available on the extent. Generally, it is thought that through early warning and rapid response, the amount of damage to a field stays within a reasonable amount per field.

No countries reported any change in the applied methods. However, Belgium recommended to do a small inquiry to have an idea of the extent of the damage. At present, the damage caused by the geese is unknown. This is the result of a fast-initiated derogation applied in cooperation with local hunters in order to address the problem. In this situation, damage is not reported so no overview is available on the extent.

The Netherlands recommended to use remote sensing techniques to determine damage. The present procedure is that after notification of crop damage by the farmers, the governmental body sends an appraiser to the fields to determine and estimate the damage. Using remote sensing techniques to estimate damage independently of farmers' willingness to notify and claim damage would be beneficial.

(iii) Description of the methods applied or tested to prevent damages and to reduce risks, their effectiveness and sufficiency to tackle the problem;

The range states were requested to describe nine different predefined (formulated in broad terms without details) and one 'other' method applied or tested to prevent damages and asked to score the effect of these (Table 2). Six countries responded to the questions about the applied methods to prevent damages and the effect of these (Table 2). The effect was scored at a local and national level. In many cases, the effect was scored higher at local scale than at national scale and there was a much higher variation in the scores between countries than between applied methods making it impossible to make any generalisations.

he different range states and the mean of all.							
epresent: 1: The measure does not mitigate the problem. NA: N	-		measure	could pos	sibly hel	p to mitig	ate the problem
Agriculture	NO	SE	FI	DK	BE	NL	Mean
Agriculture	NU	SE	F1		DE		Iviean
Control of land use / site protection		<mark>3/3</mark>					<mark>3.0/3.0</mark>
Damage compensation payments		3/3				<mark>1/1</mark>	2.0/2.0
Derogation shooting for scaring							
(without killing)	<mark>3/2</mark>	<mark>3/3</mark>	NA	<mark>2/1</mark>	<mark>3/2</mark>	<mark>2/2</mark>	2.6/2.0
Egg destruction		2/NA			2/2	1/1	1.7/1.5
Fencing	<mark>3/2</mark>	<mark>3/NA</mark>					3.0/2.0
Increased hunting efficiency	2/2						2.0/2.0
Population control					3/2	<mark>2/2</mark>	2.5/2.0
Sacrificial crops		<mark>3/3</mark>					3.0/3.0
Scaring		<mark>3/3</mark>			2/2	1/1	2.0/2.0
Subsidy schemes to allow geese						<mark>1/1</mark>	1.0/1.0
Flora-fauna							
Egg destruction					2/2		2.0/2.0
Fencing					3/2		3.0/2.0
Population control					<mark>3/2</mark>		3.0/2.0

Table 2. Overview of methods applied or tested to prevent damages caused by Greylag Geese and the effect of these in

In general, there are very different views on how effective the different applied methods are and there is no obvious solution found that works across the countries.

(iv) Understanding the link between population level and damages or risk.

This request provided information on the total January population size of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose 1980-2018, which was used together with data from the mid-winter counts by Wetlands International to describe the size of the flyway population and its trend. This was presented in the Greylag Goose population status report (see details in Heldbjerg et al. 2020).



Figure 2. Total January population size of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Goose 1980-2018 (data from Heldbjerg et al. 2020).

The reported data from the most recent years resulted in estimates of a population of up to c. 750,000 individuals (Fig. 2). However, it was concluded that the reported estimate of the Greylag Goose population size at the flyway level were likely to be too low, and that this bias is not possible to quantify. Nevertheless, following an increase over three decades, the population has likely stabilised in recent years.

There is very limited data to describe the relationship between population level and the damages to agriculture. However, the Netherlands provide information comparing these two parameters, illustrating that there is no clear correlation between the number of wintering Greylag Geese and the compensation paid for damages to agriculture by this species in the country (Fig. 3). Notice however, that studying this relation is restricted by the very little variation in the January population in the Netherlands; hence, we cannot extrapolate this to other populations with significant changes during short periods.



Figure 3. Relationship between the January numbers of Greylag Geese in the Netherlands and the compensation paid for the damage they cause in the years 2010-2018. Administrative costs (5.6-8.5 % of the compensation) are calculated in the last few years (in 2016-2018) but are not included here.

https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/natura-11

(i) List of SPAs and other protected areas designated for the Greylag Goose;

The updated list of the Natura 2000 data - the European network of protected sites is found at

(ii) Management of the species and the damage inside and outside SPA;

SPA related (ii) and (iii) are treated together and described below under point (iii).

(iii) Tackling damage prevention inside and outside SPAs (accommodation areas, derogations, etc.)

SPA related (ii) and (iii) were treated together. Replies were received from Denmark, Sweden, Belgium and Andalusia, Spain (Table 3).

The replies show that the management of the species varies between the range states. Regarding damage prevention, Sweden has applied almost all measures, in contradiction to the three other range states.

Table 3. Overview on how replying range states manage Greylag Goose inside and outside the SPAs and the way they tackle damage prevention inside and outside the SPAs. No/yes refer to whether the measure is applied or not.

<mark>Туре</mark>	Measure	Denmark	Sweden	Belgium	<mark>Andalusia,</mark> <mark>Spain</mark>
Management (ii)	Specific habitat restoration activities - roosts	NO	NO	NO	NO
Management (ii)	Specific habitat restoration activities - foraging areas	NO	YES	YES ²	NO
Management (ii)	Reducingrecreationaldisturbance (non-hunting)	NO	YES	NO	YES
Management (ii)	Hunting-free zones	NO	YES	YES ³	YES
Management (ii)	Hunting on the species allowed	Inside and outside ¹	YES	NO	NO⁵
Damage prevention (iii)	Population control	NO	NO	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Egg destruction	NO	NO	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Derogation shooting for scaring	Applied outside SPAs ¹	YES	NO	NO

Damage prevention (iii)	Scaring	Applied outside SPAs ¹	YES	NO ⁴	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Control of land use / site protection	NO	YES	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Damage compensation payments	NO	YES	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Subsidy schemes to allow geese	NO	YES	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Sacrificial crops	NO	YES	NO	NO
Damage prevention (iii)	Fencing	NO	YES	NO	NO

The following comments were added to the replies:

Denmark:

¹The applied measures were all (3) applied throughout the country

Belgium:

² Habitat restoration (wet grasslands with small scale landscape structure containing small patches of shallow water) is concentrated within SPA's.

³ Hunting on Greylag Geese is limited from 15 August to 30 September but all hunting (on all species) is closed from 15 November in SPA's or other wetlands that are important for hibernating waterbirds. So Greylag Goose, amongst others, benefit during winter from these temporal hunting free zones.

⁴ Scaring is a prerequisite to obtain damage compensation for Greylag Goose during the winter period (1/11 to 15/03), but not within SPA's that are important for wintering geese (Greylag Goose or others).

Andalusia, Spain:

⁵ Hunting is allowed in the buffer zone of the national Park of Doñana

Air safety

This section addresses issues related to geese and air safety. Although this document concerns the population of Greylag Goose, we have included all relevant information received from airports regardless of the goose species in question. In many cases, the information provided by the airports even concerns unidentified goose species, but due to the similarities between the different species with regard to their potential impact on air safety and their response to different management actions, we consider the information useful irrespectively of the species in question.

Conclusions

- Greylag Goose was one of the goose species most frequently reported to have been involved in birdstrikes.
- In Norway, Greylag Goose is the species most frequently shot at airports.
- In recent years, resources allocated to the management and control of goose populations have remained stable at most airports.
- Airports use various methods to monitor, manage and control geese at the airport premises.
- No universal solution to deter geese is available at present.
- Six out of ten airports have seen an increase in goose abundance over the past five years.
- In some cases, the growth in goose populations has been accompanied by a corresponding increase in the need for management actions.
- Many airports expect an increase in problems associated with the presence of geese in the future.

Introduction

Birdstrikes constitute a risk to aviation safety throughout the world. In particular, geese constitute a hazard to aircrafts because of their size and flocking behavior. Often birdstrikes with geese result in significant damage to aircrafts, which in some cases may be fatal. In NW Europe, goose populations have increased dramatically over the past few decades leading to growing concern about the risk that these populations pose to air safety.

The European Goose Management Platform (EGMP) under the African-Eurasian Migratory Waterbird Agreement (AEWA), aims to provide the mechanisms for a structured, coordinated and inclusive decisionmaking and implementation process for the sustainable use and management of goose populations in Europe, with the objective of maintaining them at a favourable conservation status, while taking into account concerns of relevant stakeholders and the pertinent legislative frameworks and regulations. One of these stakeholders is the aviation industry.

We therefore asked relevant airports to identify the scale of the risk that particularly Barnacle and Greylag Geese, but also other goose species, pose to aircraft safety by sharing data with the EGMP Data Centre at Aarhus University, Denmark. We requested observational data on goose presence, birdstrike data concerning the individual species and a description of procedures to mitigate and prevent the problem. In Germany, this task was coordinated by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit. In addition, we received information from Copenhagen Airport and Avinor, Norway.

Unfortunately, part of our survey was launced when the COVID-19 pandemic had brought airports around the world to a halt in the second quarter of 2020. We believe this was the reason why relatively few airports responded to our request. Although we fully acknowledge the huge impact from COVID-19 on aviation industry, we must also admit that for this reason the conclusions, which can be made on the basis of the survey are relatively few and should be used with caution.

Acknowledgements

We thank the airports for their contributions to this analysis. In particular, we wish to thank Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit, Avinor and Copenhagen Airport.

Results

Survey conducted by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit

Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit collected information from the following ten airports:

Hamburg Airport (HAM)

Düsseldorf Airport (DUS)

Zürich Airport (ZRH)

Dresden Airport (DRS)

Karlsruhe/Baden-Baden Airport (FKB)

Dortmund (DTM)

Stuttgart Airport (STR)

Bremen (BRE)

Frankfurt Airport (FRAU)

Berlin Airport

Monitoring

All airports indicated that there are nearby areas suitable for breeding, foraging or roosting geese. Monitoring data are obtained by inspection according to ICAO/EASA regulations, except at ZHR, where monitoring is carried out by an ornithological institute. In addition to inspection, data is obtained from local contact persons at DUS, whereas HAM use data from an ornithological institute and OAG. BER is the only airport using radar to monitor bird flight activity.

Assessment of trends

Six of the ten airports (HAM, DUS, ZRH, STR, BRE, FAR) reported that the abundance of geese has increased over the past five years, whereas the abundance has been stable at the remainder of the airports.

Four airports reported the presence of new goose species in the area. These were DUS (Canada Goose, Egyptian Goose), ZRH (Egyptian Goose, rarely Canada Goose), FKB (Taiga Bean Goose) and BRE (Canada Goose, Egyptian Goose). Egyptian Goose is regarded as an alien species in the EU.

Six airports (HAM, ZRH, STR, BRE, FRA, Berlin) indicated that problems associated with the presence of geese are expected in the future. Three of the airports (DUS, FKB, DTM) do not expect such problems. DRS did not provide information about this issue.

Impact on air traffic

ZRH and BRE were the only airports to indicate that birdstrikes involving geese had occurred, whereas HAM, FKB, STR and FRA reported that the presence of geese had affected air traffic in some way (change or closure of runway, delays or abortion of take-off).

Bird control

On the airport premises

All airport indicated the use of scaring at their premises. The most commonly used scaring methods are shooting (9 airports) and pyrotechnics (9 airports), whereas laser (7 airports), acoustics (4 airports) and falconry (4 airports) are used to a minor extent (Tab. 4).

Table 4. Overview of the different scaring methods used at airport premises. Information collected by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit.

Airport/Method	Pyrotechnics	Acoustics	Laser	Shooting	Other
				for	
				scaring	
HAM	X		X	X	Falconry
DUS	X	X		X	Biological techniques
ZRH*				X	
DRS	X		X	X	
FKB	X	X	X	X	Falconry, fox
DTM	X	X	X	X	
STR	X	X			
BRE	X		X	X	Dog, falconry
FRA	X		X	X	
Berlin	X		X	X	Falconry, dog

*No dispersal needed.

Outside the airport premises

Eight airports indicated that bird control takes place outside their premises. Egg removal or treatment (4 airports) was the most commonly used technique, whereas hunting (3 airports), modified land use (3 airports) and nest removal (2 airports) was used to a lesser extent (Tab. 5).

Table 5. Overview of different management methods used outside airport premises. Information collected by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit.

Nest removal	Egg removal	Hunting	Land use	Other
	X			
		X ¹		
X	X	X	X ²	
	$(\mathbf{X})^3$			
X	X			
		X ⁴		Dog, pyrotechnics
			X ⁵	
			X ⁶	
		Image: Constraint of the second se	Image: sector of the sector	Image: second

¹Egyptian Goose, ²Management with mowing plan, ³Puncture and exchange of goose eggs in city parks, ⁴Egyptian and Greylag Goose, ⁵Optimization of recultivation of gravel pits, ⁶Change of crops, especially no maize in the vicinity of the airport, different tillage after maize harvest, (deep) plowing of crop residues.

Effectiveness of bird control methods

Eight airports indicated the degree to which their use of various scaring and management methods had proven successful (Tab. 6). The effectiveness of similar actions showed great variation between airports, emphasizing that no universal solutions to control birds at airports is available at present. Pyrotechnics, shooting, biological techniques, land use/habitat management, egg removal, dispersal and the use of dogs were all methods that were reported to have "good" effect. However, pyrotechnics, laser and egg removal were also reported to have "no" effect, which was also the case for the use of ribbons.
Airport/Method	Pyrotechnics	Laser	Shooting	Falconry	Biological techniques	Land use/habitat management	Egg removal, etc.	Hunting	Dispersal	Ribbons	Nest removal	Dog
HAM												
DUS												
ZRH												
ORS												
⊧кв												
DTM												
STR												
BRE												
FRA												
Berlin												

Number of birdstrikes involving geese

Altogether, 21 birdstrikes involving geese (and swans) were reported to have occurred during the period from 2014-2019 (Fig. 4). Most of these involved unspecified geese and swans (13), whereas Greylag Goose was involved in four birdstrikes. Egyptian Goose and Canada Goose were involved in two birdstrikes each. There was no clear trend in the number of birdstrikes over the time period.



Figure 4. The number of birdstrikes involving geese in German (9) and Swiss (1) airports from 2014-2019. Data collected by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit.

Copenhagen Airport

Copenhagen Airport has provided information about birdstrikes involving geese during the period from 1996-2016 (Fig. 5). Altogether, 17 birdstrikes involving geese occurred during the time period. Most of these involved Barnacle Goose (9), whereas Greylag Goose was involved in 6 birdstrikes.



Figure 5. The number of birdstrikes involving geese at Copenhagen Airport from 1996-2016. Data courtesy of Copenhagen Airport.

The apparent increase in birdstrikes involving geese coincides with a marked increase in the number of migrating geese at the airport (Fig. 6). These are mainly Barnacle and Greylag Geese, whereas Greater White-fronted and Canada Geese occur in small numbers.



Figure. 6. The number of goose observations at Copenhagen Airport from 2004-2016. Data courtesy of Copenhagen Airport (from Bradbeer et al. 2017).

Norwegian airports

Data from 13 Norwegian airports provided by Avinor showed a marked increase in the number of geese shot as part of their flight safety management scheme (Fig. 7). In 2013 a single goose was shot, whereas in 2018 this number had increased to 42 geese. The vast majority of geese shot were Greylag Geese.



Figure 7. The total number of geese and Greylag Geese shot at 13 Norwegian airports from 2013-2018. Data courtesy of Avinor.

During the same time period there was a marked increase in the total number of occasions where geese were registered at the airports (Fig. 8). However, the numbers showed great variation between airports and in 2018 and 2019 Stavanger Airport, situated in the southwestern part of Norway, accounted for more than half of the goose observations.



Figure 8. The total number of geese and Greylag Geese shot at 13 Norwegian airports from 2013-2018. Data courtesy of Avinor.

The increased presence of geese at the airports was accompanied by a concomitant increase in the number of management actions taken to scare off geese ($R^2=0.99$, p<0.0001) (Fig. 9). In 2013 and 2014, no actions were reported, whereas in 2018 and 2019, actions were taken to scare off geese on 64 and 58 occasions, respectively. Through the period, blank shots were the most commonly used scaring method. No information about the extent to which the scaring was successful or the effectiveness of the range of scaring methods used is available.



Figure 9. The number of different management actions taken towards geese at 13 Norwegian airports from 2013-2019. Data courtesy of Avinor.

Birdstrikes involving geese in Norway

Since 2017, Avinor has registered three incidents involving geese (Tab. 7).

Table 7. Birdstrikes at Norwegian airports involving geese.										
Date	Airport	Species								
14.06.2017	Tromsø Airport	Greylag Goose*								
29.06.2018	Svalbard Airport	Barnacle Goose*								
29.04.2019	Bergen Airport	Greylag Goose								
27.04.2017	Dergen Amport	Greying Goose								

*Species identification uncertain.

EGMP survey 2020/21

In 2020/21 we received information from the following five airports about goose-related impacts on their operations:

Eindhoven Airport (EHEH), Netherlands

Esbjerg Airport (EBJ), Denmark

Hamburg Airport (HAM), Germany

Helsinki Airport (HEL), Finland

Tallinn Airport (EETN), Estonia

Birdstrikes involving geese

Within the EGMP survey, Helsinki Airport was the only airport where birdstrikes involving geese had occurred. From 2010-2020 the airport registered four incidents (Tab. 8).

Table 8. Birdstrikes involving geese at Helsinki Airport from 2010-2020.

Date	Time	Goose species	Flock size	Number struck	Aircraft	Phase of flight
28.08.2013	15:53	Unidentified	Unknown	2	<mark>B737</mark>	Take-off
20.09.2013	04:04	Unidentified	Unknown	1	<mark>A319</mark>	Take-off
28.10.2013	00:00	Unidentified	Unknown	2	B737	Approach
03.10.2019	04:45	Canada Goose	<mark>10</mark>	2	E190	Take-off

General impact on air traffic from the presence of geese

Helsinki and Hamburg Airports were the only airports to indicate that the presence of geese has an impact on air traffic. Depending on wind conditions, hundreds of thousands of geese pass over Helsinki airport during seasonal migration in spring and autumn. This causes delayed take-off and go-arounds. At Hamburg Airport, alternative runways are used to reduce the risk of birdstrikes with Greylag Geese in March/April and late September.

Actions taken towards geese on airport premises

At Esbjerg and Tallinn Airports no actions towards geese are needed.

The development in the use of shotgun, various distress calls and bioacoustics from 2000-2018 at Eindhoven Airport is shown in Fig. 10. The number of actions taken towards geese peaked in 2007 and there was a tendency for actions to be necessary on a more regular basis from late 2000s, although the number of actions were at a relatively low level. It should be noted that on some occasions both distress calls and shotguns were used towards the same flock.



Figure 10. The number of different management actions taken towards geese at Eindhoven Airport from 2000-2018. Data courtesy of Eindhoven Airport.

Most actions were targeted towards Canada Geese (16), Greylag Geese (9) and Egyptian Geese (8) (Fig. 11). Altogether, shotgun was the most commonly used scaring method. In addition to scaring, habitat management is used at airport premises to keep grassland unattractive to geese.



Figure 11. The species at which different management actions were targeted at Eindhoven Airport. Data courtesy of Eindhoven Airport.

Helsinki Airport maintains a zero tolerance towards geese on their premises and shooting is practiced to keep geese off premises. In addition, the airport runs a grassland management scheme to keep premises unattractive to geese. As a result, no geese feed on airport premises.

For information about actions taken towards geese at Hamburg Airport see "Survey conducted by Verband für biologische Flugsicherheit" above.

Actions taken towards geese in the vicinity of the airport

None of the five airports that responded to the request are taking actions to reduce the abundance of geese in the vicinity of the airport. At Eindhoven Airport it is not permitted to perform such actions, whereas at Hamburg Airport no resources for bird control outside are allocated. In the vicinity of Helsinki Airport farmers are not allowed to establish pastures. At Esbjerg and Tallinn Airport no such actions are necessary.

Monitoring techniques

All the airports reported that visual counting is part of the monitoring of geese and other bird species. Hamburg Airport, Tallinn and Esbjerg indicated that birds are monitored according to ICAO/EASA standards. Only Eindhoven Airport uses both radar and thermal cameras to monitor birds (Tab. 9).

Table 9. The use of different monitoring techniques at five airports.

Method/Airport	HAM	EETN	EBJ	HEL	EHEH
Inspection	-	-	-		
(ICAO/EASA)	X	X	X		X
Visual counts	X	X	X	X	X
Radar					X
Thermal					X

The development of goose abundance on and around airport premises 2009-2019

There was no clear pattern in the development of goose abundance experienced by the airports, although at Hamburg Airport both Pink-footed and Greylag Goose have been increasing. Barnacle Goose was reported to have increased at Helsinki Airport, which is probably a result of the airport being situated on the seasonal migration corridor of the Russian/Baltic population (Tab. 10).

Table. 10. The development in the goose abundance experienced at five airports from 2009-2019.

Species/Airport	HAM	EETN	EBJ	HEL	EHEH
Pink-footed goose	Increasing	Not relevant	Stable	Unknown	Not relevant
Barnacle Goose	Stable Stable	Stable [Value]	Stable	Increasing	Not relevant
Greylag Goose	Increasing	Not relevant	Stable	Stable	Stable*/increasing

*Stable since 2011.

Resource use 2009-2019

Only Helsinki Airport indicated that resources, e.g. man hours, deterrents, land management, surveillance, etc., directed towards geese had increased during 2009-2019, whereas resource use has been stable at the remainder of the airports (Tab. 11).

Airport/Development	Declining	Stable	Increasing	<mark>Unknown</mark>
HAM		X		
EETN		X		
EBJ		X		
HEL			X	
EHEH		X		

Conclusions and perspectives

It is important to notice that this analysis is based on different surveys and various sources of information provided by the airports. Therefore, the different airports have not been asked to provide similar information about all issues concerning geese and flight safety. The rather small number of respondents also means that the results of the survey may not be representative of the general situation experienced at airports throughout the range of the goose populations of concern.

However, the survey showed that geese are present around most airports and as such pose a risk to air safety. Six out of ten airports reported that the abundance of geese has increased over the past five years, whereas the abundance has been stable at the remainder of these airports.

Six out of ten airports indicated that problems associated with the presence of geese are to be expected in the future.

Almost all airports reported that actions are taken to reduce the presence of geese on their premises, whereas such actions are only used to a minor extent in the vicinity of the airports. Apparently, shooting (blanks and loaded) and pyrotechnics are the most commonly used techniques, although laser and acoustics are also used to scare off geese. Outside airport premises various methods, e.g. nest or egg removal, grassland management and hunting, are practiced.

The evaluation of the effectiveness of various scaring and management methods showed contradicting results, emphasising that no universal solution to deter birds is available at present. For example, pyrotechnics, laser and egg removal were reported to have both "no" and "good" effect.

In Norway, there was a close relationship between an increased presence of geese at the airports and the number of management actions taken to scare off geese.

Altogether, birdstrikes involving geese had occurred at seven airports: These were Tromsø, Bergen, Svalbard, Helsinki, Copenhagen, Bremen and Zürich Airports. Although in many cases, the goose species involved in a birdstrike remain unidentified, it is clear that most goose species have been involved in birdstrikes in recent years. It seems that Barnacle and Greylag Geese are among the species most frequently involved. This corresponds well with the fact that these populations are amongst the most numerous in NW Europe.

Helsinki, Hamburg, Karlsruhe/Baden-Baden Airport, Stuttgart and Frankfurt all reported that the presence of geese affect air traffic causing delayed or aborted take-off, go-arounds and a need to close or change runways.

In Norway, there was a close relationship between the increased presence of geese at the airports and the number of management actions taken to scare off geese. A similar pattern was reported from Eindhoven Airport, where actions against geese has become more regular in recent years. However, despite the overall growth in populations of Barnacle, Pink-footed and Greylag Goose wintering in NW-Europe, the resources allocated to the management and control of geese have remained stable at most airports, expect at Helsinki Airport, where growing populations of migrating geese has caused an increase in the associated costs. Part of these costs goes to the monitoring of geese, which in most cases follows the ICAO/EASA standards, whereas radar is used to a lesser extent.

At Helsinki and Copenhagen Airports it seems that birdstrikes are more likely to occur during periods of peak migration (Bradbeer et al. 2017), which is supported by the fact that both airports are situated on an important migration route of Greylag and Barnacle Geese.

It is evident that in many airports goose populations pose a hazard to flight safety. Besides the threat to human life and direct costs of damaging birdstrikes, precautionary measures, i.e. mitigation, management, changes in air operations, bird control, etc., pose a financial cost to airports, airlines and authorities responsible for flight safety. Considering the continued growth in several goose populations, these costs are likely to increase in the future.

In the future, it will be useful to develop and promote structures and standards to facilitate the evaluation and linkage of information between airports concerning the expanding goose populations, their potential impact on air safety and their management in and outside airport premises. In this way, standards and guidelines for best practice may be established meaning that an efficient deployment of management methods can be accelerated to mitigate the risk of goose-aircraft collisions.

References

Bradbeer, D.R., Rosenquist, C., Christensen, T.K. et al. 2017. Crowded skies: Conflicts between expanding goose populations and aviation safety. Ambio 46, 290–300.

Flemish Government 2009. Decision of the Flemish Government of 3 july 2009 on the compensation ofdamagebygamespeciesandprotectedspecies.https://codex.vlaanderen.be/Zoeken/Document.aspx?DID=1018264¶m=inhoud

Heldbjerg, H., Jensen, G. H., Madsen, J., Koffijberg, K., Langendoen, T. & Nagy, S.,2020. Greylag Goose Northwest/Southwest European population status report 2016-2019. AEWA European Goose Management Platform Data Centre. 23 s.

Pedersen, O., Baastrup-Spohr, L., Madsen-Østerbye, M., Kristensen, E., Kragh, T., Andersen, M. R., ... Sand Jensen, K. (2016). Lobeliesøer - trusler og restaurering.

Powolny, T., Jensen, G.H., Nagy, S., Czajkowski, A., Fox, A.D., Lewis, M., Madsen, J. (Compilers) 2018. AEWA International Single Species Management Plan for the Greylag Goose (Anser anser) -Northwest/Southwest European population.

Annex 3. Setting population targets

Setting Population-Size Targets for the NW/SW European Population of Greylag Geese Using Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis

Prepared by the EGMP Data Centre: Fred A. Johnson and Henning Heldbjerg, Aarhus University, Denmark

HIGHLIGHTS

Twenty-one European goose experts used their professional judgement to state the relationship between Greylag Goose abundance and nine management objectives.

Objective weights expressed by EGMIWG members were highest for habitat impacts, agricultural damage, and bird strikes, intermediate for government costs, cultural and aesthetic values, and sport hunting, and lowest for amenity fouling and disease transmission.

By combining the judgements of goose experts and the relative importance of objectives expressed by EGMIWG members in a multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA), we identified preferred population targets for the two management units of Greylag Geese.

The most preferred target for management unit #1 (migratory segment) is 70 thousand breeding pairs. The most preferred target for management unit #2 (sedentary segment) is 100 thousand breeding pairs. Both targets represent about a 20% reduction from current values and the approximate wintering population size associated with this candidate is 617 thousand.

However, targets of 70k and 80k breeding pairs for units MU1 and MU2, respectively, had nearly an identical score to the most preferred candidate. The approximate wintering population size associated with this candidate is 545 thousand.

The MCDA should not be perceived as dictating a preferred set of candidate targets; rather it narrows the range of candidates that may be worthy of further discussion,

Summary

In 2018 the European Goose Management International Working Group (EGMIWG) approved multi-criteria decision analysis (MCDA) as a framework for deliberations concerning the setting of management targets for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese (*Anser anser*). Phase I of the MCDA involved identification of the fundamental management objectives of the International Single Species Management Plan (ISSMP), and an expert elicitation of the expected consequences of varying levels of Greylag Goose abundance in the two established management units. Across all objectives, there tended to be more agreement among technical experts in the shapes of the relationships with Greylag Goose abundance during the breeding season than during the winter. When weighted by country-specific abundance, most relationships were nearly linear, although the slopes of the curves varied among objectives. In particular, the curves were nearly flat for habitat impacts (objective #6) and public health (objective #8) during the winter, suggesting that Greylag Goose

abundance had little influence on those objectives during the wintering period. For cultural and aesthetic values (objective #1), the weighted curves were parabolic, reflecting the view that maximization of this objective occurs in the mid-range of Greylag Goose abundance. In phase II of the MCDA, members of the EGMIWG were asked to assign weights to the management objectives, reflecting the perceived importance of each objective. Once objective weights were solicited, they were used to identify a preferred alternative (a set of management-unit population targets in this case). Because objective weights varied among members of the EGMIWG, we used a well-established consensus-convergence model to identify a set of consensus weights. Consensus-convergence weights were highest for habitat impacts, agricultural damage, and bird strikes, intermediate for government costs, cultural and aesthetic values, and sport hunting, and lowest for amenity fouling and disease transmission. Accordingly, the highest scoring candidate targets tended to be those with the lowest breeding and wintering abundances. Based on the entire MCDA analysis, the preferred breedingpair targets for management units MU1 (Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland) and MU2 (Netherlands, Belgium, NW Germany) are 70 thousand and 100 thousand, respectively (weighted score = 0.7514). However, targets of 70 thousand and 80 thousand breeding pairs for units MU1 and MU2, respectively, had nearly an identical score (weighted score = 0.7513) to the most preferred candidate. The approximate wintering population size associated with the most preferred candidate is 617 thousand, compared to 545 thousand for the second-most preferred candidate. For both management units, the preferred targets represent about a 20% reduction from current values of breeding-season abundance. Despite limitations, the MCDA process as conducted was fully transparent and, importantly, clearly separated the application of science (the expert elicitation) from value-based policy decisions (the swing-weighting exercise). Nonetheless, we emphasize that the MCDA should not be perceived as dictating a preferred set of candidate targets; rather the MCDA narrows the range of candidates that may be worthy of further discussion, particularly if there are considerations not fully captured by the analysis.

Introduction

The range of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese includes Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark, Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France and Spain. In 2018, at the EGM IWG3 that took place in Leeuwarden, the Netherlands, the EGMIWG approved MCDA as a framework for deliberations concerning the setting of management targets for this population. Widely used in natural resource management, MCDA combines scientific information with value-based objectives to identify a preferred decision alternative (Huang et al. 2011). The idea for Greylag Geese is to first consider fundamental management objectives described in the ISSMP (Powolny et al. 2018) and then use the best information available to predict the consequences of varying levels of goose abundance for each of those objectives. The best choice of a target for abundance is the one that maximizes the weighted sum of consequences across objectives, using objective weights provided by decision makers. MCDA explicitly recognizes multiple objectives and inherent tradeoffs, and relies on decision makers to determine the relative importance of various management objectives.

Phase I of the MCDA involved identification of the fundamental management objectives of the ISSMP and an assessment of the potential consequences of varying levels of Greylag Goose abundance (Fig. 1). Ideally, the potential consequences of various population sizes are based on empirically based models. Although population models for Greylag Geese are in development, they are not yet ready nor will they be sufficient to address all management objectives. Thus, we relied on expert opinion, which is widely used in the absence of empirical information and can be a valuable tool for decision-making if rigorous protocols are followed (Morgan 2014).

The expert elicitation was followed by phase II of the MCDA, in which members and permanent observers of the EGMIWG were asked to assign weights to the management objectives, reflecting their perceived importance of each objective. National Government Representatives (NGRs) and permanent observers of the EGMIWG participated in this exercise. Participants used a technique known as swing weighting (Gregory et

al. 2012) to identify weights using the results of the expert elicitation described above. Swing weighting is an exercise in which decision makers are asked to rank the perceived importance of multiple objectives and then to identify acceptable tradeoffs among them.

In this report, we describe the methods used in each phase of the MCDA, provide the results of those two phases, and describe and discuss the results of the MCDA in terms of potential population targets.



Figure. 1. Phases and timeline of the multi-criteria analysis used to help set population targets for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese.

Methods

The EGMIWG has chosen to manage the flyway population based on two breeding management units (MU):

MU 1 (migratory) Breeding: Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland Stopovers: Denmark, Germany, France Wintering: Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark, Sweden, Spain, France

MU 2 (sedentary) Breeding: Netherlands, Belgium, NW Germany Wintering: Netherlands, Belgium, NW Germany

We relied on the ISSMP (pages 15-17) for specification of fundamental management objectives. In some cases, we attempted to provide more specificity to the objectives so that it was clear to experts exactly what consequences were being elicited. In all cases except the objective related to sport hunting opportunity, we recognized that consequences might vary between breeding (roughly defined as April-August) and wintering (roughly defined as August-April) seasons. The objectives were defined as follows:

	Criterion	Objective
(1)	Maximize	Cultural and aesthetic values provided by Greylag Geese
(2)	Minimize	Agricultural damage (real or perceived loss of crop biomass) by Greylag Geese
(3)	Minimize	Government payments to mitigate agricultural damage by Greylag Geese
(4)	Minimize	Direct costs to government of culling and scaring Greylag Geese
(5)	Minimize	Indirect costs to government of public derogations of Greylag Geese
(6)	Minimize	Deleterious impacts to other species resulting from habitat modifcation by Greylag Geese
(7)	Maximize	Satisfaction with amount of sport hunting opportunity for Greylag Geese
(8)	Maximize	Public health (amenity fouling & disease transmission by Greylag Geese)
(9)	Maximize	Air safety (number of bird strikes by Greylag Geese)
Not listed	Maximize	Probability that population size falls above the FRVs for Greylag Geese
		(FRVs have not yet been established.
		Any candidate population target that is less than or equal to a
		FRV that is eventually established will be dropped from consideration)

Phase I: Expert Elicitation

For each of the nine management objectives, experts were asked to decide which of several candidate relationships they believed best characterized the true relationship between Greylag Goose abundance and the performance metric provided. Experts were asked to do this separately for the breeding season and for the wintering season in their respective country. We emphasized that it was the general shape of the relationship that was important, rather than the precise values of the x-y coordinates. Breeding-season relationships are management-unit specific (experts only received a form containing the management unit in which their country was a part), but the wintering season included Greylag Goose abundance arising from both management units. The current, approximate country-specific distributions of Greylag Geese for each season were provided as reference.

The candidate relationships provided to experts are shown below (Fig. 2), with the scaling of Greylag Goose abundance depending on the management unit and season. The x axis thus indicated varying levels of goose abundance and the y axis represented the consequence for the objective in question. For the candidate relationships (A, B, C, ...), the x axis provided a range of possible abundance values of Greylag Geese, which included $\pm 20\%$ of current minimum and maximum values. To serve as a benchmark, the approximate, average current values were shown as vertical dashed lines on the graphs. Breeding season abundance was in number of breeding pairs, whereas the wintering population was absolute number of individuals (both in thousands). The y axis represented a relative score corresponding to varying levels of Greylag Goose abundance and for computational purposes, we allowed this score to range from zero to one. We note that the parabolic relationship for cultural and aesthetic values (candidate E) was available only for this objective because we reasoned that the relationships with other objectives should be monotonic (i.e., never decreasing). For this exercise we assumed that current estimates of Greylag Goose abundance are approximately correct. However, it is possible that current estimates of abundance are biased low. If that turns out to be the case, we will simply rescale the x axis and we will still be able to use the original responses from the experts.



Figure 2. Possible relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and a management objective (cultural and aesthetic values in this case). The vertical, dashed line is current abundance in MU2 as provided in the ISSMP.

Once experts decided which relationships best characterized the true relationship in their country, they were asked to allocate 100 points among them. For example, for cultural and aesthetic values an expert may have decided that the relationship was most likely linear (B), but they also believe it could be asymptotic (D). Thus, they might have placed 75 points on (B) and 25 points on (D). Thus, the assigned points were meant to represent the experts' level of confidence in the candidate relationships. Notice that candidate (A) posits no relationship between goose abundance and the objective. This might be the case, e.g., where impacts occur at a very local level and any relationship with goose abundance may be largely absent at the country level. Experts were instructed not to feel compelled to respond to an objective or season if they did not feel qualified to do so, or if it was not applicable to their country (e.g., sport hunting in the Netherlands, agricultural damage payments in Norway).

Finally, we strongly emphasized to experts that their responses were intended to represent the best available information (i.e., empirical information or expert opinion) and that they should be as objective as possible. The expert elicitation was a modelling exercise and thus it would have been inappropriate to impart personal values or institutional agendas. Value-based judgements indicating the relative importance of the management objectives are the purview of decision makers and have been assessed in the phase II of the MCDA.

The EGMP Data Centre identified experts who were known for their scientific work on goose ecology and management in the Range States of the NW/SW European population of the Greylag Goose. Identified candidates were those who work with aspects of human-goose interactions and ecosystem services, including exploitation. The Data Centre contacted at least three experts in each participating Range State, and received responses from the following number of goose experts (Appendix):

Belgium: 2 Denmark: 3 Finland: 2 France: 2 Netherlands: 2 Norway: 3 Spain: 4 Sweden: 3

To summarize the relationships for each management unit we used the following protocol:

- Within a country, responses from experts were equally weighted using a simple average because there was no a priori reason to believe some experts were more qualified than others.
- Once breeding-season responses were averaged over experts for each Range State, they were combined for a management unit response using a weighted average, with weights based on the current estimate of breeding pairs in each country (as provided in the ISSMP).
- For wintering season responses, Range States were also combined using a weighted average, but with weights based on the approximate winter distribution of geese among Range States (as determined by neck collar observations).

Specification of candidate population targets is inherently arbitrary, but the goal was to select a range wide enough to encompass diverse stakeholder interests, and with increments that would reflect realistic management and monitoring capabilities. We next specified candidate population targets for the two management units in the following manner (all values in thousands):

MU1:

- Breeding-pair range reported in ISSMP: 81.6 92.0 (mean = 86.8)
- Reported range $\pm 20\%$: 65.3 110.4
- Five equally spaced values within the range (rounded): 65, 77, 88, 99, 110
- Candidates: 70, 80, 90, 100, 110

MU2:

- Breeding-pair range reported in ISSMP: 94.5 149.5 (mean = 122.0)
- Reported range $\pm 20\%$: 75.6 179.4
- Five equally spaced values within the range (rounded): 76, 102, 128, 153, 179
- Candidates: 80, 100, 120, 140, 160

Using the weighted curves described above, we constructed a table depicting the consequences of candidate targets for all nine objectives during both the breeding and wintering seasons. The candidate targets were specified as all possible pairs of the five candidates for each management unit. Thus, there were 25 total

candidates, expressing possible targets for the two management units. As before, breeding-season and wintering-season consequences were weighted by the relative abundances of Greylag Geese in each Range State.

The resulting consequence table depicts scores for the 25 candidates on each of the nine objectives for each season. Thus, the table has 18 rows and 25 columns, making it difficult to assess the relative tradeoffs among objectives. For example, low targets generally score better on objectives like agricultural damage (objective #2), but worse on objectives like cultural and aesthetic values (objective #1) or the level of satisfaction with the amount of sport hunting (objective # 7). While these sorts of general patterns are apparent, the precise extent of the tradeoffs is difficult to assess because of so many objectives and so many candidate targets. Fortunately, there are two ways to simplify a consequence table so that the nature of the tradeoffs is more obvious (Hammond et al. 1999). The first is to determine if there are any irrelevant objectives; i.e. those that do not substantially help a decision maker distinguish among the candidate targets. The second is to determine if there are any dominated alternatives; i.e., those candidate targets that perform worse or no better than other targets across all objectives. We used both approaches to simplify the consequence table.

We first inspected the correlation between breeding and wintering season consequences for each of the nine objectives, reasoning that if there was a high correlation then the consequences for one of the two seasons were largely redundant. We observed the following Pearson correlation coefficients between the breeding and wintering-season consequences for each objective:

- 1) Cultural and aesthetic values: 0.85
- 2) Agricultural damage (real or perceived loss of crop biomass): 0.93
- 3) Government payments to mitigate agricultural damage: 0.98
- 4) Direct costs to government of culling and scaring: 0.96
- 5) Indirect costs to government of public derogations: 0.91
- 6) Deleterious impacts to other species resulting from habitat modification: 0.95
- 7) Satisfaction with amount of sport hunting opportunity: NA
- 8) Public health (amenity fouling & disease transmission): 0.93
- 9) Air safety (number of bird strikes): 0.72

We chose a correlation coefficient of 0.90 as a threshold, and eliminated the wintering-season consequences for any objective that had a coefficient greater than this. While we could have eliminated the breeding-season consequences instead, we chose to retain them because the focus is on establishing breeding-season targets for the two management units. For cultural and aesthetic values and for air safety, the correlation coefficients fell below the threshold of 0.9. For cultural and aesthetic values, we chose to retain only the wintering-season consequences because they were generally higher (better) than during the breeding season. We believe this is a logical outcome because geese are concentrated in flocks during the winter and the subject of considerable bird-watching. For air safety (bird strikes), the consequences were also generally higher (worse) during the winter season, again perhaps due to large concentrations of geese. For both objectives, we therefore retained consequences only for the wintering period. For sport hunting opportunity, we also only used the wintering-season consequences because there is no sport hunting during the breeding season.

Once we had reduced the consequence table to nine rows, one for each objective, we focused on those objectives related to government costs (objectives #3-5). Because both direct and indirect costs are on the same scale (0-1), we combined them for a total cost. In the expert elicitation, we distinguished among different type of costs because of the possibility that the relationships with Greylag Goose abundance might differ. However, once those different costs are tabulated for each of the candidate targets, it is possible to simply sum them for a total cost to government. The resulting consequence table now had seven objectives to use in evaluating the 25 candidate targets.

We next turned to identifying any dominated candidate targets. The following candidates did worse or no better than other candidates; i.e. they were "dominated" by other alternatives and thus could be eliminated from consideration. The dominated alternatives were (values are in thousands of breeding pairs for MU1/MU2): 90/80, 90/100, 90/120, 100/80, 100/100, 100/120, 100/140, 110/80, 110/100, 110/120, 110/140. The result was a greatly simplified consequence table consisting of seven objectives and 14 candidate targets. This reduced consequence table was provided to members of the EGMIWG in order to elicit the relative importance of management objectives.

Phase II: Weighting of Management Objectives

When a decision maker has more than just a few objectives, swing weighting is one of the easiest methods for determining their relative importance (Gregory et al. 2012). Swing-weighting involves a thought experiment where the participant is first asked to imagine a baseline alternative that has the worst consequences across all objectives. Then the participant is asked to identify their most important objective and to swing its (and only its) consequence from its worst value to its best to develop hypothetical alternative. That alternative is given a rank of 1 (the best). The participant repeats the process swinging one (and only one) consequence from its worst to its best, and ranks those hypothetical alternatives from the second best (2) to the worst (7, in this case). Then the participant assigns 100 points to the hypothetical alternative ranked number 1. They then assign points to the remaining hypothetical alternatives in accordance with how important they are relative to the top ranked one. Finally, the point values are normalized to provide a relative weight for each of the objectives.

Once objective weights were solicited, they were used to identify a preferred alternative (a set of managementunit population targets in this case). First, all consequence scores from the expert elicitation were normalized to the interval 0-1 (with 0 being the worst outcome and 1 being the best) for each objective. Then for each alternative, a weighted sum of the (normalized) consequence scores was calculated, using the objective weights established in the swing-weighting exercise. Because objective weights varied among members of the EGMIWG, we used the consensus-convergence model to identify a set of consensus weights (Regan et al. 2006). This method avoids many of the pitfalls of ad hoc methods of negotiation and consensus-building because it is inclusive of all group members, is blind to dominant personalities within the group, and is immune to the influence of powerful special interests. The consensus-convergence model has its foundations in the philosophy of negotiation, and the method is both transparent and repeatable. Basically, the method relies on the correlations in responses among participants. Higher correlations result in more weight on those participants. In other words, participants with more similar objective weights have more influence on the overall average. Extreme views (e.g., almost all of the weight on any one objective) have less influence on the overall average. By agreeing to the application of this method for creating consensus weights, all stakeholders are essentially agreeing to compromise their values to some extent by explicitly recognizing the different values of others in the group (which, of course, is the basis of any negotiated settlement).

We received objective weights from the national governments of Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, the Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden (Germany is not participating in the implementation of the Greylag Goose ISSMP, and thus did not participate in this exercise) and from the following EGMIWG permanent observers: the International Council for Game and Wildlife Conservation (CIC), the Committee of Professional Agricultural Organisations-General Confederation of Agricultural Cooperatives (COPA-COGECA), BirdLife, the European Federation for Hunting and Conservation (FACE), the European Institute for the Management of Wild Birds and their Habitats (OMPO), Wetlands International, and the Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust (WWT) (Appendix).

Results

The following graphs (Figs. 3-11) depict responses elicited from experts concerning the consequences of varying goose abundance during breeding and wintering seasons, along with the weighted averages as described above. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict

candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets.

Across all objectives, there tended to be more agreement among goose experts in the shapes of the relationships with Greylag Goose abundance during the breeding season than during the winter. When weighted by country-specific abundance, most relationships were nearly linear, although the slopes of the curves varied among objectives. In particular, the curves were nearly flat for habitat impacts (objective #6) and public health (objective #8) during the winter, suggesting that Greylag Goose abundance had little influence on those objectives during the wintering period. For cultural and aesthetic values (objective #1), the weighted curves were parabolic, reflecting the view that maximization of this objective occurs in the mid-range of Greylag Goose abundance.



(1) Cultural & aesthetic value

Figure 3. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and cultural and aesthetic values as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(2) Loss of crop biomass

Figure 4. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and loss of crop biomass as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(3) Payments for crop loss

Figure 5. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and government payments to mitigate agricultural damage as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(4) Costs of culling & scaring

Figure 6. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and direct costs to governments of culling and scaring geese as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(5) Costs of public derogation

Figure 7. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and indirect costs of public derogations as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(6) Impacts to other species

Figure 8. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and deletarious impacts to other species as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(7) Satisfaction with the amount of sport hunting opportunity

Figure 9. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and satisfaction with the amount of sport hunting as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles on the weighted-average (black) depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



(8) Public health impacts

Figure 10. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and public health (amenity fouling and disease transmission) as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.



Figure 11. The relationships between Greylag Goose abundance and air saftey (number of bird strikes) as judged by goose experts in the Range States. The circles located on the weighted-average (black) curves for the breeding season depict candidate values for target population sizes for the two management units. The circles on the weighted-average (black) curve for the wintering season depict approximate wintering abundances arising from all possible combinations of the breeding-season candidate targets. Population sizes are in thousands.

(9) Bird strikes

Table 1 depicts the consequence table that was provided to the EGMIWG national governments and observers for assigning weights to the management objectives. Note that the goal is to minimize the consequence scores for all objectives except cultural and aesthetic values (objective #1) and sport hunting (objective #7), for which the goal is maximization. As specified in the ISSMP, the current abundance of breeding pairs is approximately 90 thousand and 120 thousand in MU1 and MU2, respectively. The tradeoffs between low and high goose abundance are readily apparent, suggesting that a compromise will be necessary for establishing population targets.

Table 1. Consequence scores associated with candidate population targets for two management units of Greylag Geese. Management objectives are to maximize cultural and aesthetic values (C&A), minimize agricultural damage (Crop), minimize management costs to governments (Cost), minimize deleterious impacts to habitats (Habitat), maximize satisfaction with the level of sport hunting (Hunting), minimize amenity fouling and disease transmission (Health), and minimize bird strikes to aircraft (Air). The green shaded cells are the best consequence for each objective and the red shaded cells the worst.

Mgmt Unit 1	70	70	70	70	70	80	80	80	80	80	90	90	100	110
Mgmt Unit 2	80	100	120	140	160	80	100	120	140	160	140	160	160	160
1. C&A	0.33	0.49	0.59	0.65	0.68	0.42	0.55	0.63	0.67	0.69	0.68	0.68	0.68	0.67
2. Crop	0.09	0.13	0.20	0.29	0.42	0.16	0.21	0.27	0.37	0.49	0.44	0.57	0.66	0.78
3-5. Cost	1.13	1.80	2.34	2.86	3.49	1.65	2.29	2.80	3.31	3.93	3.73	4.33	4.81	5.42
6. Habitat	0.10	0.18	0.25	0.33	0.46	0.15	0.22	0.29	0.37	0.50	0.43	0.55	0.64	0.77
7. Hunting	0.15	0.33	0.46	0.56	0.65	0.25	0.40	0.51	0.60	0.69	0.65	0.74	0.79	0.84
8. Health	0.26	0.34	0.40	0.46	0.50	0.29	0.37	0.44	0.49	0.54	0.54	0.58	0.64	0.74
9. Air	0.26	0.30	0.34	0.38	0.45	0.28	0.32	0.36	0.41	0.48	0.45	0.53	0.57	0.63

Based on responses to the swing-weighting exercise, management objectives to minimize crop damage, adverse habitat impacts, and bird strikes received the highest weights (Fig. 12). There were some minor differences in weights expressed by national governments and those by observers, especially in terms of cultural and aesthetic values, crop damage, and bird strikes.

Using all swing-weighting responses, consensus-convergence weights were highest for habitat impacts, agricultural damage, and bird strikes, intermediate for government costs, cultural and aesthetic values, and sport hunting, and lowest for amenity fouling and disease transmission (Fig. 13). Accordingly, the highest scoring candidates tended to be those with the lowest breeding and wintering abundances (Fig. 14). Based on the entire MCDA analysis, the preferred targets for units MU1 and MU2 are 70 thousand and 100 thousand breeding pairs, respectively (weighted score = 0.7514). However, targets of 70 thousand and 80 thousand breeding pairs for units MU1 and MU2, respectively, had nearly an identical score (weighted score = 0.7513) to the most preferred candidate. The approximate wintering population size associated with the most preferred candidate is 617 thousand, compared to 545 thousand for the second-most preferred candidate.



Figure 12. Means and standard errors of the weights assigned to Greylag Goose management objectives by national governments (Govt), by EGM IWG permanent observers (PO), and by all respondents. Management objectives are to maximize cultural and aesthetic values (cav), minimize agricultural damage (crop), minimize management costs to governments (cost), minimize deleterious impacts to habitats (hab), maximize satisfaction with the level of sport hunting (hunt), minimize amenity fouling and disease transmission (amen), and minimize bird strikes to aircraft (strike).



Figure 13. Consensus convergence weights for Greylag Goose management objectives derived from EGMIWG respondents. Management objectives are to maximize cultural and aesthetic values (cav), minimize agricultural damage (crop), minimize management costs to governments (cost), minimize deleterious impacts to habitats (hab), maximize satisfaction with the level of sport hunting (hunt), minimize amenity fouling and disease transmission (amen), and minimize bird strikes to aircraft (strike).



Figure 14. Scores for candidate population targets for Greylag Geese, weighted by the consensus convergence weights on management objectives. On the y axis are first the breeding-pair targets for management units MU1 and MU2, respectively, followed by the approximate number of wintering individuals (all values in thousands). Higher scores indicate higher preference.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first time anywhere that multi-criteria decision analysis has been used to help set population targets for migratory birds. Accordingly, there have been a number of lessons learned. First and foremost, the lack of empirical models to predict the consequences of candidate targets relative to management objectives is an important limitation. Although expert opinion can be a valuable adjunct to empirical data, it is no substitute for direct monitoring of consequences in relation to varying levels of goose abundance. Nonetheless, our elicitation of consequences drew on the expertise of 21 goose specialists in Europe, with a minimum of two experts responding per Range State. The shapes of the relationships between objective consequences and goose abundance were remarkably similar among Range States, particularly during the breeding period, reflecting a high degree of consensus among experts.

Other shortcomings involved the assignment of weights to the management objectives of Greylag Geese. Ideally, this would involve a fully democratic process, with all members of society having the opportunity to express their opinions. A more practical alternative was to ask the National Governmental Representatives of the Range States and permanent observer organizations of the EGM IWG to best represent the perspectives of their respective stakeholders. Nonetheless, the available time for these parties to consult within their organizations was necessarily limited, and participants in the swing-weighting exercise sometimes expressed frustration at the difficulty of properly representing the diverse views of their constituencies. These limitations imply that the swing-weighting exercise is not repeatable in the sense that different objective weights would

likely result if the exercise were conducted again. Nonetheless, limited sensitivity analysis of the objective weights suggest that the preferred population targets would change very little.

Despite limitations, the MCDA process as conducted was fully transparent and, importantly, clearly separated the application of science (the expert elicitation) from value-based policy decisions (the swing-weighting exercise). Science and policy issues are often conflated in environmental management, especially in controversial issues (Pielke 2007). The MCDA also identified the nature and extent of tradeoffs inherent in complex decisions, and demonstrated that compromise within and among stakeholder groups would be necessary to reach agreement on population targets for Greylag Geese. In this regard, use of the consensus-convergence model to identify a set of consensus weights avoided many of the pitfalls of ad hoc, face-to-face methods of negotiation and consensus-building. It is inclusive, repeatable, and transparent, and it is blind to dominant personalities and powerful special interests that can lead to one-sided agreements. It is notable, however, that the consensus-convergence weights differed little from simple averages among all participants in the swing-weighting exercise. This fact demonstrates that even special interests had a high regard for the interests of other parties.

Based on the MCDA results, there is near universal agreement that lowering the abundance of Greylag Geese would best meet a broad range of management objectives. For both management units, the preferred targets represent about a 20% reduction from current values of breeding-season abundance, which from a management perspective would require considerable effort above and beyond current population-control measures. Yet maintenance of the population at a lower abundance could result in substantial long-term cost savings to national governments and agricultural interests, and a significant decrease in the potential for aircraft bird strikes. Lower abundance of Greylag Geese would be accompanied by some sacrifice from those interested in cultural, aesthetic, and sport hunting values, of course, but even EGMIWG observer organizations acknowledged the importance of minimizing the adverse impacts of large numbers of geese.

Finally, we acknowledge that the MCDA necessarily represents a coarse-grain analysis, in the sense that we relied on expert opinion for objective consequences, we chose candidate population targets somewhat arbitrarily, and we used a representative rather than fully democratic process for weighting objectives. These facts imply that the weighted scores for the candidate population targets are not precise, in that small differences in scores among candidates are likely not meaningful. Moreover, the most preferred candidates all have values of population targets that are at are near the minimums considered. We therefore emphasize that the MCDA should not be perceived as dictating a preferred candidate (it is a policy decision after all); rather the MCDA narrows the range of candidates that may be worthy of further discussion, particularly if there are considerations not fully captured by the analysis (e.g., distribution of total breeding pairs among the two management units).

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank the following experts for assisting with phase I of the MCDA: Mikko Alhainen, Mariano Rodríguez Alonso, Leo Bacon, Kevin Clausen, Johan Elmberg, Jordi Figuerola, Arne Follestad, Tony Fox, Andy Green, Ove Martin Gundersen, Frank Huysentruyt, Kees Koffijberg, Jesper Madsen, Johan Månsson, Blas Molina, Leif Nilsson, Jorma Pessa, Thibaut Powolny, Hans Schekkerman, Ingunn Tombre, and Floris Verhaeghe. We also thank members of the EGMIWG for providing their perceptions of the relative importance of the management objectives of Greylag Goose management. Funding for this project was graciously provided by the Norwegian Environment Agency.

Literature Cited

Gregory, R., L. Failing, M. Harstone, G. Long, T. McDaniels, and D. Ohlson. 2012. Structured Decision Making: A Practical Guide to Environmental Management Choices. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., West Sussex, UK.

- Hammond, J. S., R. L. Keeney, and H. Raiffa. 1999. Smart Choices: A Practical Guide to Making Better Life Decisions. Broadway Books, New York, N.Y.
- Huang, I. B., J. Keisler, and I. Linkov. 2011. Multi-criteria decision analysis in environmental sciences: ten years of applications and trends. Science of the Total Environment 409:3578–3594.
- **Morgan, M. G. 2014.** Use (and abuse) of expert elicitation in support of decision making for public policy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111:7176–7184.
- Pielke Jr., R. A. 2007. The Honest Broker: Making Sense of Science in Policy and Politics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- **Powolny, T., G. H. Jensen, S. Nagy, A. Czajkowski, A. D. Fox, M. Lewis, and J. Madsen. 2018**. AEWA International Single Species Management Plan for the Greylag Goose (Anser anser) Northwest/Southwest European population. AEWA Technical Series No. 71.
- **Regan, H. M., M. Colyvan, and L. Markovchick-Nicholls. 2006**. A formal model for consensus and negotiation in environmental management. Journal of Environmental Management 80:167–176.

Appendix

Elicited responses from European goose experts in phase I of the MCDA:

Link to Expert Elicitation

Objective weights expressed by National Governmental Representatives of the Range States and permanent observer organizations of the EGMIWG in phase II of the MCDA:

Link to Objective Weights

Annex 4. Population Models

Management of the NW/SW European Population of Greylag Geese: Decision Making under Deep Uncertainty

Prepared by the EGMP Data Centre: Fred A. Johnson Aarhus University, Denmark

Summary

The problem we address in this report is motivated by the desire to regulate the size of the NW/SW European Greylag Goose population to meet a number of management objectives, including providing sustainable harvests and minimizing agricultural damage and conflicts. Using simple models of population dynamics along with observed allometric relationships in birds, we have concluded that reported estimates of Greylag Goose population size and/or offtake at the flyway level are likely biased, perhaps severely so. Recognizing that resources are limited, we suggest that the most pressing need may be to investigate and strengthen monitoring protocols for Greylag Goose offtake. We describe a simple information-gap ("info-gap") decision model that could allow decision makers to make informed choices about the magnitude of offtake until such time that more reliable monitoring information is available for Greylag Geese. With the info-gap decision model we were compelled to use a management criterion based on the growth rate of the flyway-wide population because true levels of abundance and offtake on a management-unit basis are unknown. Moreover, we emphasize that in the face of deep uncertainty about Greylag Goose abundance and offtake, decisions concerning management of the population carry a very high risk of failing to meet conservation objectives, whatever they may be. While the info-gap analysis suggests an increase of offtake over the nominal level of 450 thousand is necessary to begin decreasing population size, we emphasize that we do not know the current level of offtake (i.e., whether it has changed from that reported in the ISSMP). Moreover, the info-gap analysis does not take into account special needs and population trajectories of the MUs and their different segments, and thus it carries a high risk of not meeting the MU-specific population targets if not replaced by a more reliable decision-making tool. Therefore, we conclude that info-gap decision analysis does not provide a sound basis for adaptive, dynamic decision-making, which ultimately will be necessary to reliably manage Greylag Goose abundance in accordance with population targets in the two management units. Only up-to-date, coordinated, and reliable monitoring data on abundance and offtake from throughout the flyway will allow us to realize that goal.

Introduction

The ISSMP for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese provides contemporary estimates of abundance of 900 - 1200 thousand individuals in midwinter and an offtake (sport harvest + derogations) of about 450 thousand individuals (Powolny et al. 2018). One or both estimates appear to be biased, perhaps severely so, based on arguments contained herein. The presence of bias in estimates of abundance and/or offtake make informed decisions concerning management of this goose population challenging at best.

Science-based population management requires at a minimum reliable estimates of population size during some part of the annual cycle, along with estimates of anthropogenic mortality. Even when detailed demographic information is limited or lacking, reliable estimates of population size and offtake can nonetheless provide a reasonable basis for making and evaluating management decisions (Johnson et al. 2018). Moreover, managers can sometimes cope with bias in estimates of population size or offtake if more detailed

demographic information is available (Johnson et al. 2020). Unfortunately, none of these scenarios is currently applicable to the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese.

Information gap decision theory ("info-gap") is designed for cases of "deep" uncertainty – those in which a stochastic (probabilistic) structure for uncertain consequences is either unreliable or unavailable (Ben-Haim 2001, Regan et al. 2005, van der Burg and Tyre 2011). It is similar to the concept of maxi-min (Polasky et al. 2011), in which a preferred management action is the one which maximizes the minimum level of management performance over all uncertain consequences. Info-gap decision analyses poses a slightly different question: "which management action is most likely to satisfy a specified management criterion for the largest range of uncertainty?"

The problem we address in this report is motivated by the desire to regulate the size of the Greylag Goose population to meet a number of management objectives, including providing sustainable harvests and minimizing agricultural damage and conflicts. In the following sections, we first provide evidence for bias in the estimates of abundance and/or offtake of Greylag Geese. We then describe a simple info-gap decision model that could allow decision makers to make informed choices about the magnitude of offtake until such time that more reliable monitoring information is available for Greylag Geese. Finally, we provide the relative risk of not meeting a management criterion so that decision makers can account for their risk attitude.

Intrinsic and Realized Growth Rates of the Greylag Goose Population

We used the methods of Johnson et al. (2012) and Niel and Lebreton (2005) to estimate the intrinsic population growth rate (i.e., no density dependence and no anthropogenic mortality) of Greylag Geese. From Johnson et al. (2012), adult survival under ideal conditions for birds ranging in mass from 12 to 8663g is estimated as:

(1)
$$\theta = p^{\frac{1}{(expexp(3.22+0.24\log(M)+e)-\alpha)}},$$

where *p* is the observed proportion of the population alive at the observed maximum lifespan with $p \sim beta(3.34,101.24)$, *M* is body mass in kg, α is age at first breeding, and *e* is the error in the model relating body mass to longevity with $e \sim Normal(0, \sigma^2 = 0.087)$. Using both female and male mean body masses of 3.108 kg (sd = 0.274) and 3.509 (sd = 0.321), respectively (Dunning Jr. 2008), and an assumed $\alpha = 3$, the median is $\theta = 0.889$ and 95% confidence interval is 0.785 – 0.943. This represents a maximum longevity of about 29 years, which agrees well with that of birds in captivity (e.g., Nigrelli 1954). Use of an age at first breeding of $2 < \alpha \leq 3$ (i.e., some portion of 2-year-olds can breed) causes only very minor differences in the value of θ .

Next, we used the values of $\theta = 0.889 (0.785 - 0.943)$ and $\alpha = 3$ along with Equation (15) from Niel and Lebreton (2005) to estimate the intrinsic population growth rate as:

(2)
$$\lambda \approx \frac{(\theta \alpha - \theta + \alpha + 1) + \sqrt{(\theta - \theta \alpha - \alpha - 1)^2 - 4\theta \alpha^2}}{2\alpha} \approx 1.159 \quad (1.120 - 1.206).$$

The median is similar to empirical values for snow geese and barnacle geese provided by Niel and Lebreton (2005).

For the period (2004-2012) in which EGMP national midwinter counts are available from all flyway Range States (Sweden, Denmark, Germany, Netherlands, Belgium, France, Spain, and Portugal) (Appendix and Heldbjerg et al. 2020), we can estimate the realized mean growth rate using a log-linear regression model of counts, N:

 $(3) \qquad N_t = N_0 \lambda^t$

$$log log (N_t) = log log (N_0) + log log (\lambda) \cdot t log log (N_t) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t + e_t e_t \sim Normal(0, \sigma)\bar{\lambda}$$
$$= exp exp \left(\beta_1 + \frac{\sigma^2}{2}\right)$$

The estimated mean growth rate for 2004-2012 was $\overline{\lambda} = 1.063 (1.048 - 1.079)$ (Fig. 1). Note that this analysis assumes that whatever the bias in EGMP national totals may be, it is relatively constant over the period 2004-2012.

We note, however, that population growth may have slowed since 2012. EGMP national totals are available from all Range States from 2004 to 2016 (i.e., 4 additional years) except Spain (outside Donana) and Germany. If we use the observed growth rates in those two countries during 2004-2012 to extrapolate their respective counts through 2016, the growth rate of the flyway population was $\bar{\lambda} = 1.038$ (1.026 – 1.051) during 2004-2016. Counts of geese in the Netherlands and in Spain appear to be most responsible for the lower growth rate when compared to the 2004-2012 period.



Figure 1. The intrinsic population growth rate of Greylag Geese as estimated using the methods of Johnson et al. (2012), and the realized growth rates based on EGMP national totals in the Range States of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese. Note that counts for Spain and Germany were imputed for 2013-2016 (see text). Dashed, vertical lines represent the means.

Magnitude of Bias in Abundance and/or Offtake

We can use the estimated intrinsic and realized population growth rates to investigate the potential magnitude of bias in abundance and/or offtake of Greylag Geese. To do so, we must assume that (1) the population is not subject to any significant density dependence; (2) all anthropogenic mortality is due to sport hunting or to take under derogations; and (3) offtake is additive to other sources of mortality. While all of these assumptions are unlikely to be true, we believe they represent a reasonable starting point. Under these assumptions:

(4)
$$\bar{\lambda} \approx \lambda \left(1 - \frac{\beta H}{\alpha N}\right)$$

where $\overline{\lambda}$ is the realized growth rate, λ is the intrinsic growth rate, H and N are the estimated size of the offtake and the post-breeding population, respectively, and α and β are bias coefficients. If the (approximate) equality in Equation (4) is satisfied for $\alpha = \beta = 1$, then there is no apparent bias in estimates of abundance or offtake.

We can find the combinations of and that satisfy the equality in Equation (4) for nominal values of H and N. We use the estimates of abundance of 900 – 1200 thousand individuals in midwinter and an offtake (sport harvest + derogations) of about 450 thousand individuals reported in the ISSMP for comparable time periods (Powolny et al. 2018). We thus specify the following nominal values:

$$H = 450kN = \frac{900k + 1200k}{2} + H = 1500k$$

We choose to use the estimated growth rate during 2004-2016 (i.e., with four years of imputed values for Germany and Spain) for this exercise because it better aligns with the period of the information provided about offtake in the ISSMP. Using five thousand samples from the distributions for $\overline{\lambda}$ and λ (Fig. 1), we solved Equation (4) for β for a range of values in α . A plot of the resulting values of β against α can be divided into four quadrants, representing cases where: (1) *H* is biased low ($\beta > 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha < 1$); (2) *H* is biased low ($\beta > 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (3) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (3) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (7) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (7) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (7) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (7) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha > 1$); (7) *H* is biased high ($\beta < 1$) and *N* is biased low ($\alpha < 1$) (Fig. 2). If we were to assume that the nominal estimate of offtake is unbiased (horizontal dashed line in Fig. 3), abundance would be underestimated by a factor of about 2.5 – 3. On the other hand, if we assume that the nominal estimate of abundance is unbiased (vertical dashed line in Fig. 3), offtake would be overestimated by a factor of almost 3. If one were to assume that actual goose abundance is unlikely to be more than 3 times the nominal abundance, then a robust conclusion is that the nominal estimate of offtake is biased of offtake is biased high, perhaps severely so.

The conclusion that reported offtake is biased high is further supported if we consider the possibility that the intrinsic growth rate is a maximum that may not be realized in a variable environment, or that density-dependent mechanisms are acting to reduce it. Consider the following modification to Equation (4):

(5)
$$\bar{\lambda} \approx p\lambda \left(1 - \frac{\beta H}{\alpha N}\right)$$

where p < 1 represents a potential reduction in the intrinsic growth rate. For any values p < 1, the combinations of α and β that satisfy the equality in Equation (5) even more strongly suggest a positive bias in reported offtake.


Combinations of α and β that satisfy the equality in Equation (4) for nominal values of abundance and offtake of the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese that were reported in the ISSMP. The horizontal dashed line represents an unbiased nominal estimate of offtake, and the vertical dashed line represents an unbiased nominal estimate of offtake.

A similar problem of monitoring bias exists for Greylag Geese breeding in Iceland (Frederiksen et al. 2004) and has been recognized at a regional level in Europe (although that report has not been publicly released). The source of the bias in Greylag Goose monitoring protocols is not easily identified, as other sources of corroborating information are lacking. However, IWC counts and estimates of the number of breeding pairs (which may have their own problems) seem to suggest that EGMP national totals may be roughly of the correct magnitude. Corroborating estimates of sport and derogation harvest are completely lacking, but we note that Padding and Royle (2012) found that hunter-reported goose harvests in the U.S. were 49-64% higher than the actual harvests (e.g., hunters potentially exaggerated their harvest).

It is also possible that reported population sizes and offtake for Greylag Geese are approximately correct, but this would demand much higher survival and fecundity than is typical in arctic and subarctic breeding geese. In fact, the proportion of young prior to hunting would have to be \geq 30% (the minimum value of 30% would only be possible if there was no mortality other than harvest). Based on allometric relationships (Niel and Lebreton 2005, Johnson et al. 2012), we would expect about 23% young under ideal conditions. However, Greylag Geese breeding in more temperate latitudes do so under exceedingly favorable environmental conditions and such high values of reproductive success cannot be completely discounted (A. Fox, Aarhus University, personal communication).

Information-Gap Decision Analysis

Methods and an Example

The existence of bias of unknown magnitude in Greylag Goose monitoring renders traditional approaches to modeling population dynamics and decision analysis inappropriate. However, in an effort to help guide decision making, we explored an info-gap approach, which poses the question: "which management action will most likely satisfy a management criterion for the largest range of uncertainty?" In our case, the deep uncertainty concerns the true values of α and β , expressing the degree of bias in estimates of abundance and offtake, respectively. Thus, we would like to choose a management action, in this case a level of offtake, *H*, that would meet some management criteria for a larger range of uncertainty in α and β than any other potential level of offtake.

Ultimately, the management criterion will be represented by a target population size for each of the two management units defined for Greylag Geese (https://egmp.aewa.info/sites/default/files/meeting_files/reports/AEWA_EGM_IWG_4_final_report.pdf). These targets are in the process of being specified using multi-criteria decision analysis to determine the appropriate tradeoff among a variety of management objectives. However, even if targets were available, they would not be useful as criteria in this situation because it is abundance itself that is uncertain. Nor can we use a criterion for each management unit because the derivation of the total harvest (i.e., the portion of the total harvest derived from each management unit) is unknown. However, we can establish a management criterion based on the predicted growth rate of the NW/SW European population using Equation (4). In other words, we can determine the nominal level of total offtake that would meet a growth-rate criterion for the largest possible range in values of α and β .

For example, suppose that the decision maker wishes to stabilize population growth. Population growth based on EGMP national totals (with imputation for Spain and Germany for four years) during 2004-2016 was $\bar{\lambda} =$ 1.038 (1.026 - 1.051) amid growing concern about the adverse impacts of population size. The decision maker knows (s)he is unlikely to meet the criterion of a realized growth rate $\bar{\lambda} = 1$ precisely, but would like to get as close as possible to a stable population. The info-gap decision problem then is: "what nominal level of offtake will meet a performance criterion of $|\bar{\lambda} - 1| \leq C$, where *C* is some critical threshold, for as large a range in α and β as possible?"

We first establish a range of uncertainty in α and β to examine. Based on previous arguments, it is likely that estimated offtake is biased high as long as true abundance exceeds nominal abundance by a factor <3.5. Thus, we somewhat arbitrarily set $\alpha \sim uniform(0.5,3.5)$ and $\beta \sim uniform(0.2,1.0)$. We then examined a range of nominal values of offtake and, for each combination of α and β predicted $|\overline{\lambda} - 1|$ using Equation (4). For this example, we simply look at two levels of offtake: (a) no increase; and (b) a 40% increase in the level of offtake.

While the info-gap analysis relies only on the estimated intrinsic growth rate (and *not* on an observed growth rate), it is nonetheless sensitive to nominal values of abundance and offtake. As with the investigation of bias, we used imputed, total winter counts from the IWC, but used an average of the three most recent years available (2016-2018) (Heldbjerg et al. 2020). Importantly, we continued to assume that the nominal level of offtake is currently 450 thousand because we have no more recent information that would allow us to do otherwise. Thus, nominal offtake and post-breeding abundance was assumed to be:

$$H = 450k$$
$$N = \frac{709k + 775k + 751k}{3} + H$$
$$N = 745k + 450k = 1195k$$

Fig. 3 depicts contours of $|\bar{\lambda} - 1|$ for the ranges of α and β , and for the levels of offtake described. One can see from the contour plots that less restrictive management criteria can be achieved under a wider range of uncertainty in α and β than with more restrictive criteria. For example, a criterion of $|\bar{\lambda} - 1| \le 0.10$ encompasses many more possible combinations of α and β than a criterion of $|\bar{\lambda} - 1| \le 0.10$. This follows from the intuitive notion that the more stringent the management criteria, the less uncertainty that can be tolerated.



Figure 3. Contour plots of the predicted, absolute deviation from a stable growth rate, $|\bar{\lambda} - 1|$, for two proportional changes in the nominal level of offtake, and for varying degrees of bias in estimates of abundance, α , and offtake, β , for the NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese. The intrinsic growth rate is assumed to be $\lambda = 1.159$ with no error.

The calculations used to generate Fig. 3 were based on the median of the intrinsic growth rate and do not account for uncertainty in $\lambda = 1.159$ (1.120 – 1.206). Yet this uncertainty is not "deep", in the sense that it has a stochastic structure; e.g., we can be 95% confident that the true value lies between 1.120 and 1.206. We can account for this stochastic structure by running the previous analysis many times, using random samples from the empirical distribution of λ .

Proposed Info-Gap Decision Analysis

We start by acknowledging that population targets will likely to be at least 20% less than current population sizes, and that the Adaptive Flyway Management Plan has a 6-year time horizon. In the face of deep uncertainty about current levels of offtake and abundance, we suggest a precautionary approach of seeking to reduce population size by 15% over 10 years. Thus, we seek an annual growth rate of lambda = 0.98. We are unlikely to meet this criterion precisely, so we might consider 0.96 < lambda < 1.00 as acceptable (i.e., population size decreasing by less than 4%/year). Accordingly, an increasing population, or a population

declining more than 4% per year, would be considered unacceptable. The lower limit of 0.96 could be anything, and here simply note that an annual lambda = 0.96, if realized, would reduce population size by 34% in 10 years.

The probabilities of meeting this management criterion for an expanded range of potential levels of offtake are shown in Fig. 4. Notice that all probabilities are low (<20%), reflecting the challenge of meeting the restrictive criterion of $0.96 \le \overline{\lambda} \le 1.00$ in the face of deep uncertainty concerning the true values of bias, α and β . A nominal level of offtake of 40% higher than that reported in the ISSMP is expected to achieve the management criterion for a wider range in α and β than any other alternative. But we emphasize that this decision would be accompanied by an 86% chance that the criterion would *not* be met (assuming all examined values of α and β are considered equally plausible). In other words, there would be an 86% chance that abundance could either increase or decline by more the 4% annually. Finally, we note a very broad range of changes in offtake had nearly identical (mean) probabilities of meeting the management criterion, and indeed are not statistically distinguishable from each other.

Moreover, the info-gap analysis suggests that an increase in offtake may be needed to merely *stabilize* population size. Yet recent IWC counts and EGMP national totals suggest that the flyway population is no longer increasing (Heldbjerg et al. 2020). Assuming this recent population trend is real, there are at least three possible reasons for the contradictory conclusions arising from the info-gap analysis: (1) the current, nominal winter abundance is lower than the value we used; (b) the current, nominal offtake is higher than the value we used (i.e., it has increased in recent years); or there are factors beyond offtake (e.g., density dependence) acting to lower the intrinsic growth rate. Indeed, all three reasons might be operative.



Figure 4. Probabilities of achieving a population growth rate of $0.96 \le \overline{\lambda} \le 1.00$ for varying levels of offtake (relative to the nominal value of 450 thousand reported in the ISSMP) for NW/SW European population of Greylag Geese in the face of deep uncertainty about bias in estimates of abundance and offtake. Error bars represent 95% confidence limits, which account for uncertainty in the intrinsic growth rate of Greylag Geese.

Discussion

Using simple models of population dynamics along with observed allometric relationships in birds, we have inferred that reported estimates of Greylag Goose population size and/or offtake at the flyway level are likely biased, perhaps severely so. Recognizing that resources are limited, we suggest that the most pressing need may be to investigate and strengthen monitoring protocols for Greylag Goose offtake. While population counts have been largely coordinated among countries, offtake reporting has been rather haphazard. For example, reporting is sometimes not required nor solicited, reported offtakes are occasionally an unknown mix of sport harvest and derogations, data are sometimes not routinely compiled on a national basis, and monitoring protocols are sometimes changed without maintaining adequate documentation of the changes. If Greylag Geese are to be managed as a shared resource, more international coordination will be essential for establishing rigorous and standardized protocols for data collection and archiving.

In the face of deep uncertainty about estimates of Greylag Goose abundance and offtake, decisions concerning management of this population carry a high risk of failing to meet conservation objectives, whatever they may be. If such decisions must be made, however, information-gap decision analysis offers perhaps the most robust choice of decision-analytic tools. Info-gap analysis seeks a decision among all possible choices that has the best chance of meeting a management criterion for the largest range of uncertainty. In the case of Greylag Geese, however, simplifying assumptions about population dynamics must be made, and only a management criterion based on the rate of flyway population growth is plausible, as almost any other objectives would likely be related in some way to population size or offtake, both of which are unknown. Even a management criterion based on a population growth rate is feasible only if we assume that the bias in abundance and offtake, whatever their magnitude, are relatively constant over time.

While the info-gap analysis suggests an increase of offtake over the nominal level of 450 thousand is necessary to begin decreasing population size, we emphasize that we do not know the current level of offtake (i.e., whether it has changed from that reported in the ISSMP). Moreover, the info-gap analysis does not take into account special needs and population trajectories of the MUs and their different segments, and thus it carries a high risk of not meeting the MU-specific population targets if not replaced by a more reliable decision-making tool. We conclude that info-gap decision analysis does not provide a sound basis for adaptive, dynamic decision-making, which ultimately will be necessary to reliably manage Greylag Goose abundance in accordance with population targets in the two management units. Only up-to-date, coordinated, and reliable monitoring data on abundance and offtake from throughout the flyway will allow us to realize that goal.

Acknowledgements

EGMP Data Centre colleagues Henning Heldbjerg and Gitte Jensen provided data and helped with the analyses. Szabolcs Nagy and Tom Langendoen with Wetlands International provided recent IWC estimates of abundance. We also acknowledge the efforts of the national IWC coordinators and observers in providing IWC count data. Finally, we thank Dr. Guthrie Zimmerman, United States Fish and Wildlife Service, for providing a technical review of an earlier draft of this report and for providing helpful suggestions.

Literature Cited

- **Ben-Haim, Y. 2001.** Information Gap Decision Theory: Decisions Under Severe Uncertainty. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- van der Burg, M. P., and A. J. Tyre. 2011. Integrating info-gap decision theory with robust population management: a case study using the Mountain Plover. Ecological Applications 21:303–312.

Dunning Jr., J. B. 2008. CRC Handbook of Avian Body Masses. 2nd edition. CRC Press, New York, NY.

- Heldbjerg, H., G. H. Jensen, T. Langendoen, S. Nagy, and J. Madsen. 2020. Greylag Goose Northwest/Southwest population status report. AEWA European Goose Management Platform (EGMP) Data Centre, Aarhus University, Dept. of Bioscience, Denmark.
- Johnson, F. A., M. Alhainen, A. D. Fox, J. Madsen, and M. Guillemain. 2018. Making do with less: must sparse data preclude informed harvest strategies for European waterbirds? Ecological Applications 28:427–441.
- Johnson, F. A., M. A. H. Walters, and G. S. Boomer. 2012. Allowable levels of take for the trade in Nearctic songbirds. Ecological Applications 22:1114–1130.
- Johnson, F. A., G. S. Zimmerman, G. H. Jensen, K. K. Clausen, M. Frederiksen, and J. Madsen. 2020. Using integrated population models for insights into monitoring programs: An application using pinkfooted geese. Ecological Modelling 415:108869.
- Niel, C., and J. Lebreton. 2005. Using demographic invariants to detect overharvested bird populations from incomplete data. Conservation Biology 19:826–835.
- Nigrelli, R. F. 1954. Some longevity records of vertebrates. Transactions of the New York Academy of Sciences 16:296–299.
- Polasky, S., S. R. Carpenter, C. Folke, and B. Keeler. 2011. Decision-making under great uncertainty: environmental management in an era of global change. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 26:398–404.
- **Powolny, T., G. H. Jensen, S. Nagy, A. Czajkowski, A. D. Fox, M. Lewis, and J. Madsen. 2018.** AEWA International Single Species Management Plan for the Greylag Goose (*Anser anser*) Northwest/Southwest European population. AEWA Technical Series No. 71.
- Regan, H. M., Y. Ben-Haim, B. Langford, W. G. Wilson, P. Lundberg, S. J. Andelman, and M. A. Burgman. 2005. Robust decision-making under severe uncertainty for conservation management. Ecological Applications 15:1471–1477.

Appendix

EGMP national totals (in thousands) used to investigate Greylag Goose population growth rates. Highlighted values are imputed (see text).

Year	Sweden	Denmark	Germany	Netherlands	Belgium	France	Spain	Portugal
2004	6.989	31.934	51.137	226.502	12.981	13.987	96.458	1.828
2005	23.380	40.096	68.704	227.401	9.472	14.313	125.632	2.332
2006	5.847	51.669	82.390	295.162	15.746	15.730	132.190	2.840
2007	39.300	75.092	63.846	254.874	10.649	13.879	119.456	2.734
2008	49.592	75.671	86.800	276.832	10.578	14.356	130.786	2.391
2009	35.631	91.057	81.451	325.987	11.950	15.558	119.000	2.673
2010	30.260	71.974	61.597	393.662	10.130	20.173	114.642	2.322
2011	12.510	61.353	65.040	448.419	13.893	28.284	93.775	3.163
2012	40.033	133.453	106.083	381.774	12.941	19.612	57.532	2.576
2013	19.849	91.185	110.442	437.290	14.031	20.081	54.514	5.128
2014	31.382	87.095	114.980	407.525	14.530	15.898	51.654	2.959
2015	37.907	81.268	119.705	414.557	13.863	18.755	48.944	2.439
2016	29.749	106.295	124.624	401.236	13.100	17.756	46.376	1.597

Annex 5. Impact Models

According to the ISSMPs for the Greylag Goose and the Barnacle Goose Range States are mandated to investigate if there is a relationship between goose abundances and the amount of damage caused by the species to agricultural crops, risks to air safety or other sensitive flora and fauna.

In order to scale up an assessment of the extent of damage or risks to regional, national or even flyway levels, it is necessary to apply either a retrospective time series, statistical analysis or a predictive simulation approach. With regard to agricultural damage, some first indicative examples of national time series analyses were provided in the respective ISSMPs based on compensation payments to farmers in relationship to annual abundances of geese. For Sweden this analysis has been extended and validated (Montràz-Janer et al. 2019). In the case of Denmark, where compensation or subsidies are not used to support crop damage management, derogation was used as a proxy of the intensity of crop loss. At national level, there was a relationship between Barnacle Goose numbers and licenses granted for derogation shooting (Clausen et al. 2020). In the Netherlands, retrospective analyses are also in progress.

Predictive models to assess the relationship have so far been developed at regional levels in Norway (Baveco et al. 2017). Work is in progress in the Netherlands and Denmark (at regional level), using individual-based models and agent-based simulations, respectively. The process of building, parameterisation and testing such models is resource demanding and cannot be rolled out easily to all Range States. Hence, at least for the foreseeable future, such models can realistically only be used for selected regions.

Progress on the Danish regional simulation model

This model is built into the existing ALMaSS system (Animal, Landscape and Man Simulation System), which provides a dynamic and detailed representation of the underlying landscape, including habitat types, farm management, crop rotation etc. as well as changes in weather, vegetation growth and food availability over time. The model includes three species of migratory geese overwintering in Denmark (Pink-footed Goose, Barnacle Goose and Greylag Goose), using pattern-oriented modelling (an iterative framework where different versions are tested against performance criteria in order to assess suitability of the model) to make it behaves as closely as possible to the real world. Individual geese interact with the environment and potentially with each other, making foraging choices based on their current memory and energetic state. Population level patterns emerge as a consequence of the behaviour of each of the individuals in the three populations, and the interplay between geese and landscape allow for inference about how and where geese affect the underlying landscape. The model is validated against literature and field data, and may potentially be used for a number of research questions in relation to habitat use, crop damage, foraging decisions and management actions.

The current version aims specifically to address the impact of growing Barnacle Goose numbers on habitat use and crop cultivation, e.g. by identifying the relationship between goose numbers and crop damage. The landscape, weather and simulation of spatial behaviours is fully implemented in the model, while foraging decisions and energetics of individual geese are subject to ongoing development.

Progress on the Dutch regional simulation model

Movements and foraging decisions of barnacle geese are simulated with a custom-made, spatially-explicit, individual-based model. The model comprises foraging on grasslands in Friesland (appr. 70x70 km), the Netherlands, with a spatial resolution of 100x100m (1ha) and temporal resolutions of 1 hour for goose behaviour and 1 day for grass growth. Goose movements and foraging decisions depend on a decision tree, which is based on energy expenditure and intake, memory, interactions between flocks, and time of day. The model has been calibrated with GPS data of barnacle geese foraging in Friesland. At present, model validation is ongoing. With this model, we can assess the impacts of different management scenarios and barnacle goose

population sizes on goose foraging behaviour and its effects on goose distributions across agricultural grasslands in Friesland. The model can be extended to include other goose species and their interactions,

Retrospective analyses

A thorough analysis was performed on the relation between damage on agricultural grasslands and goose numbers in the province of Friesland, the Netherlands. We linked automatically executed damage reports to estimated goose numbers, using monthly goose counts and an approximation of homogeneous spatial redistributing of these geese that is based on GPS observations. Based on a pilot analysis, three goose species were qualified for use in the final analysis: Barnacle Goose, Greylag Goose, and Greater White-fronted Goose. We expect to publish our findings in 2021.

References

Baveco, H.M. et al. (2017). Combining modelling tools to evaluate a goose management scheme. *Ambio* 46(2): 210-223.

Clausen, K.C., Heldbjerg, H., Balsby, T., Clausen, P., Nielsen, R.D., Skov. F. & Madsen, J. (2020). Sammenhæng mellem forekomst af bramgæs og reguleringsindsats i Danmark. Scientific Report, Aarhus University, Denmark (in press).

Montràz-Janer, T., Knape, J., Nilsson, L., Tombre, I., Pärt, T. & Månsson, J. (2019). Relating national levels of crop damage to the abundance of large grazing birds: Implications for management. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 56: 2286-2297.

Annex 6. Indicator factsheets

I.1. Population size compared to the target population size

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective I. Maintain the population at a satisfactory level.

The target population sizes have been identified above the Favourable Reference Population (FRP, see Chapter 4) at both population and management unit levels using the MCDA methodology (see Annex 3).

These target population levels can be considered satisfactory in the context of Article 2 of the Birds Directive because (i) they exceed the Favourable Reference Populations. This ensures that the population is not reduced below what is considered being ecologically functional in the long-term in individual Range States, Management Units and at the population level. This corresponds to the ecological requirements part of Article 2. However, satisfactory levels also take into account (ii) economical and recreational requirements (i.e. the second part of Article 2).

Indicator definition

Individuals belonging to the two management units partially mix during the passage and wintering seasons. Therefore, this indicator includes two sub-indicators:

- 1. Number of wintering individuals;
- 2. Number of breeding pairs.

Methodology

Data collection

Data collected for both sub-indicators at national level.

- Number of wintering individuals is estimated based on January counts (IWC counts and complementary goose counts) annually (see Chapter 6).
- Number of breeding pairs is also to be estimated annually because this is a precondition of the adaptive, dynamic harvest management of the population at MU level (see Chapter 6). National population sizes in the 2003-2018 round of the EU Birds Directive Article 12 reporting, or in the ISSMP for Norway, will represent the baseline.

Data flow

The dataflow is described in Chapter 6 of this AFMP.

Methodology for indicator calculation Methodology is described in Chapter 6 of this AFMP.

Methodology for gap filling

Updates on methodology for gap filling is presented in the annual EGMP Population Status and Assessment Report.

Methodology uncertainty

Incomplete coverage of breeding and wintering areas. Updates on methodology guidelines are presented in the annual EGMP Population Status and Assessment Report.

I.2 Range extent compared to the Favourable Reference Range (FRR)

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective I. Maintain the population at a satisfactory level.

The population is considered to be maintained at a satisfactory level if the range is maintained at or above the level of the Favourable Reference Range, which is set (for most Range States) in Table 2 of the AFMP at the level of the 2003-2018 period.

Indicator definition

This indicator consists of two sub-indicators:

- Actual breeding range in proportion of the breeding FRR;
- Actual non-breeding (staging and wintering range) in proportion of the non-breeding FRR.

The breeding range includes the areas where nesting and brood rearing before fledging takes place.

According to the CMS definition, the non-breeding range includes any areas the migratory species stays in temporarily, crosses or overflies during its normal migration. Hence, the range is not restricted to key sites only, but includes all areas where the species regularly (although not necessarily) occurs annually.

Methodology

Data collection

Data for the breeding range will be collected once in every six years linked to the reporting under Article 12 of the EU Birds Directive and to the AEWA national population status reporting. Range States shall map the breeding distribution of the species following the standards set for the reporting under Article 12 of the EU Birds Directive and use the range method described in DG Environment (2017, pp. 124-128). Data for the non-breeding range will be collected at the same time as for breeding range data is collected reporting under Article 12 of the EU Birds Directive and to the AEWA national population status reporting. Range States are recommended to use the Range Tool¹⁴ developed for the reporting under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive to determine the range. The recommended gap distance for Greylag Goose is 190 km based on Box 3.2 in Bijlsma (2019, p. 40) using a body mass value of 3.14 kg. Information on non-breeding distribution can be obtained from the national IWC scheme and online observation reporting portals active in the Range States.

Data flow

Range States should calculate the range based on their distribution mapping and report to the EGMP Data Centre at the same year they report to the EU and AEWA on the breeding distribution of Greylag Goose.

Methodology for indicator calculation

For both sub-indicators the actual range will be compared to the national, MU and flyway level FRRs.

Methodology for gap filling

No need for gap filling is foreseen in the Range States.

Methodology uncertainty

The methodology is sensitive to changes on the edges of the range. Currently, the range method was not applied by all Range States. Several

¹⁴http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/help/habitats_art17/Reporting2019/Guidelines_for_EEA_range_tool_README_.pdf

References

- Bijlsma, R., Agrillo, E., Attorre, F., Boitani, L., Brunner, A., Evans, P., . . . van Kleunen, A. (2019). Defining and applying the concept of Favourable Reference Values for species and habitats under the EU Birds and Habitats Directives. Retrieved from https://edepot.wur.nl/469035
- **DG Environment. (2017).** Reporting under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive: Explanatory notes and guidelines for the period 2013-2018. In (pp. 188). Brussels: European Commission.

II.1. Relative change in damage payments

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective II. Minimize agricultural damage and conflicts. The most direct indicator would be the loss of yield of a given crop type caused by Greylag Geese, cumulated from local to national and international levels; however, such measurements would be extremely costly and models for upscaling do not exist. Therefore, it is necessary to resort to measurable proxy indicators, such as (1) compensation payments or (2) subsidies, or management actions taken to prevent agricultural damage, such as (3) offtake under derogation.

Indicator definition

This indicator includes three sub-indicators (for definition and current use in the EGMP Range States, see Tombre et al. (2019)¹⁵:

- 14. Monetary compensation payments for crop damages cause by Greylag Geese, under which farmers eligible for compensation receive public money to counterbalance for the lost crop.
- 15. Subsidy payments, i.e. farmers receiving public funds in order to allow goose grazing on their properties. Subsidies are usually paid in advance and may hence not directly reflect the level of damage.
- 16. Offtake under derogation, referring to the culling of flight-less geese (adults and young), removing of nests or eggs during summer, or geese shot outside the hunting season to protect crops.

Because the three sub-indicators are used slightly differently among Range States and do not all use a monetary currency, they will be used on a relative scale to evaluate trends in damage.

Methodology

Data collection

Data collected for the three sub-indicators at national level, species-specific and annually. Compensation payments, subsidies paid, and numbers of Greylag Geese killed under derogation will be compiled from the national statutory authorities, who are also responsible for the quality check of the information provided. The authorities will also be asked to report any change in policies, regulations or management practices, which may influence payments or use of derogation.

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

¹⁵https://egmp.aewa.info/sites/default/files/download/population_status_reports/EGMP_010_Management_measures_fo r_geese.pdf

The national payments and derogation information will be entered into a common database. The starting year will be set at an index of 100 for each country, and subsequent data will be indexed relatively to the starting year, taking into account the national inflation rate. An overview for all range states and the three relative sub-indicators will be updated annually.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

The sub-indicators are sensitive to changes in management policies, regulations and practises. A meta-database will document all the reported changes. Some countries do not have species-specific reporting of damage and can only give a rough estimate of the damage caused by Greylag Geese. A system will have to be set up to assess the uncertainties in the reporting.

III.1 Risk of zoonotic influenza transmission to the general public

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the public health component of Fundamental Objective III. Minimise the risk to public health and air safety.

Migratory geese can act as a vectors of various diseases harmful to humans and poultry (Buij *et al.*, 2017) although the general risk was considered being low both in the ISSMP (Polowny et al., 2018) and in the MCDA process (Johnson, 2020). Risk of zoonotic influenza transmissions has been selected to as an indicator because (i) its high relevance for human health, (ii) there is an ongoing surveillance programme in the EU with quarterly reports¹⁶. Hence, monitoring zoonotic influenza does not require additional resources from the EGM Range States. (iii) This indicator represents not only the prevalence of the virus, but also the preparedness to avoid transmissions.

Indicator definition

Number of human cases of zoonotic influenza per year in the flyway that can be attributed to Greylag Goose.

Methodology

Data collection

No direct reporting is required by the Range States.

Data flow

Data will be obtained by the EGMP Data Centre from the Avian Influenza overview reports published quarterly by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) and the European Union Reference Laboratory for Avian influenza (EURL).

Methodology for indicator calculation Number of cases per year.

Methodology for gap filling No need for gap filling is foreseen in the Range States.

Methodology uncertainty

Attribution of the source of infection might be problematic in some cases.

¹⁶<u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/avian-influenza-humans/surveillance-and-disease-data/avian-influenza-overview</u>

References

Buij, R., Melman, T. C., Loonen, M. J., & Fox, A. D. (2017). Balancing ecosystem function, services and disservices resulting from expanding goose populations. *Ambio*, 46(2), 301-318.

Polowny, T., Jensen, G. H., Nagy, S., Czajkowski, A., Fox, A. D., Lewis, M., & Madsen, J. (2018). *AEWA international single species management plan for the greylag goose (Anser anser): Northwest/Southwest European population.*

III.2. Number of birdstrikes with aircrafts caused by Greylag Goose

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective III. Minimize the risk to public health and air safety. The frequency of bird strikes with Greylag Goose is the direct indicator for the development in incidents, cumulated from local airports to national and international levels. The risk is likely to increase with the number of Greylag Geese passing over airports (see Indicator III.3).

Indicator definition

The indicator is the number of bird strikes caused by Greylag Geese in commercial airports in the Range States.

Methodology

Data collection

Data collected at airport and national level, species-specific and annually. This indicator is reported as a standard in all commercial civil airports and the airport authorities attempt to make an identification of the species causing the bird strike. Airports will be asked to report:

- a. Date, time of bird strike;
- b. Species, flock size, number struck;
- c. Aircraft model;
- d. Phase of flight (takeoff, landing, descent, climb, *en route*).

Bird strike data will be compiled from the national statutory authorities. The authorities will also be asked to report any change in reporting practices, which may influence the indicator.

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

Range States will be asked to select at least three high-risk civil commercial airports within the national range of the Greylag Goose for reporting. The frequency of bird strikes will be listed per airport and per country. An overview for all range states will be updated annually.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

The frequency of bird strikes with Greylag Goose is low in most airports. Therefore, the indicator has to be combined with III.3 to give a more reliable indication of the risk.

III.3. Number of Greylag Geese passing over commercial airports

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective III. Minimize the risk to public health and air safety. The number of Greylag Geese passing over an airport indicates the risk of bird strikes in a given airport (Indicator III.2) and can be related to the national and international levels.

Indicator definition

The indicator is the cumulative number of Greylag Geese passing over civil commercial airports per year in the range of the Greylag Goose, using the same airports as in III.2.

Methodology

Data collection

Data collected at airport and national level, species-specific and annually. This indicator is reported as a standard in commercial civil airports and the airport authorities attempt to make an identification of the species passing (or landing in the airport). Airports will be asked to report:

- a) Date, time of passage,
- b) Species, flock size.

Greylag Goose passage data will be compiled from the national statutory authorities. The authorities will also be asked to report any change in reporting practices, which may influence the indicator.

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

Range States will be asked to select at least three high-risk civil commercial airports within the national range of the Greylag Goose for reporting. The cumulative number of Greylag Geese passing per year will be calculated per airport. A national trend index will be calculated. The starting year will be set at an index of 100, and subsequent data will be indexed relatively to the starting year. An overview for all range states (average national indexes and relative change) will be updated annually.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

The ability of species identification by bird control employees has to be checked. If some airports use radar for identification, standards for species identifications have to be defined.

IV.1 Area of natural habitat or habitat of threatened species negatively affected by Greylag Goose

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards Fundamental Objective IV. Minimize the risk to other flora and fauna. The risk to other flora and fauna can be induced mainly via (1) grazing of plants, e.g. reed, with possible knock-on consequences for reed-nesting birds or (2) eutrophication of oligotrophic lake ecosystems by goose droppings transferred from foraging grounds to roosts. However, grazing and nutrient transport is amongst the ecological functions of geese and not necessarily a damage. Therefore, it should be assessed on a case-by-case basis and considered being a damage if it conflicts with the conservation objectives of a site.

Indicator definition

Area of natural habitat or habitat of threatened species negatively affected by Greylag Goose. This indicator considers the natural habitats of conservation interest, which includes natural habitats listed on Annex I of the EU Habitats Directive or any other natural habitats that are of conservation interest at national level. It also includes the habitat for threatened species regardless whether the habitat is of natural origin or not. In case of such habitats the important factor is the presence and dependence of a threatened species on the habitat, and the structure and other characteristics of the habitat. In this context threatened species include species that are listed on Annex I of the Birds Directive or on Annexes II or IV of the Habitat Directive or listed as threatened on a European or national Red List.

Methodology

Data collection

Range States will need to collect information from the organisations responsible for managing conservation areas on the damage caused by Greylag Goose two times during the lifetime of this AFMP. As the damage can affect a wide range of species the extent of the habitat damaged will be used as the measurement of the damage. Site management organisations should be asked to report:

- a) the threatened species or habitats affected negatively by Greylag Goose during the reporting period;
- b) the location, the nature of the damage and the extent of area affected.

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

The EGMP Data Centre will report the total area affected and also areas by habitat types or species.

Methodology for gap filling No need for gap filling is foreseen.

Methodology uncertainty

This indicator is dependent on the judgement of the site management organisations.

V.1 Number of people enjoying watching geese

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the cultural/recreational component of Fundamental Objective V. Maximise ecosystem services.

Watching geese represents an important cultural/recreational service for many people (Buij *et al.*, 2017) and the MCDA process (Johnson, 2020) has identified that several stakeholder groups valued this highly. Unfortunately, it is highly difficult to monitor the change in the recreational value of geese. Repeated socioeconomic surveys would be rather expensive. Therefore, it is suggested to use the number of people submitting Greylag Goose observations to online observation recording portals. These portals target the general public and a very high proportion of people interested in watching birds keep records of their observations on these platforms. The main observation portals in the region all contribute to the EuroBirdPortal. This would allow obtaining data at a very low cost. Even if the indicator would probably underestimate the number of people enjoy watching geese, it is assumed it would correlate closely with the total number of people. It is proposed to focus on the number of people rather than the number of man-days because the latter would require a different level of engagement than simple enjoyment.

Indicator definition

Change in the annual number of people submitting Greylag Goose observations to an online portal that contributes data to the EuroBirdPortal.

Methodology

Data collection No direct reporting is required by the Range States.

Data flow Data will be obtained by the EGMP Data Centre from EuroBirdPortal

Methodology for indicator calculation An annual index of the number of people submitting goose observations to the online portals will be calculated for each country and aggregated at MU and flyway level.

Methodology for gap filling No need for gap filling is foreseen in the Range States.

Methodology uncertainty

The index might also change if the number of users is changing and it should be tested whether this has any influence on the index.

References

Buij, R., Melman, T. C., Loonen, M. J., & Fox, A. D. (2017). Balancing ecosystem function, services and disservices resulting from expanding goose populations. *Ambio*, 46(2), 301-318.

V.2. Number of recreational Greylag Goose hunters

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective V. Maximise ecosystem services. Throughout the flyway shooting of Greylag Geese constitutes a cultural service to recreational hunters, who enjoy the hunt for geese and the goose meat as a culinary food resource. Furthermore, waterfowl hunters often pay landowners for hunting rights and they spend considerable amounts of money on their equipment (see Buij at al. 2017). The number of active Greylag Goose hunters is an indicator of this cultural service, cumulated from national and international levels.

Indicator definition

This indicator is defined as the number of active Greylag Goose hunters, i.e. hunters who have reported shooting at least one Greylag Goose in the last year of reported harvest, per Range State and along the flyway as a total.

Methodology

Data collection

The number of active Greylag Goose hunters is derived from the national bag statistics, which are mandatory in some countries while based on questionnaires in other countries and for some countries at rather long

intervals. Data collected at national level, species-specific and annually using the most up-to-date bag statistics available.

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

The number of active Greylag Goose hunters will be estimated per Range State and as a total for the flyway.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

The quality of the reports will depend on the national harvest reporting systems and the frequency of reporting. A system will have to be set up to assess the uncertainties in the reporting.

References

Buij, R., Melman, T. C., Loonen, M. J., & Fox, A. D. (2017). Balancing ecosystem function, services and disservices resulting from expanding goose populations. *Ambio*, 46(2), 301-318.

V.3. Number of Greylag Goose killed and used

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective V. Maximise ecosystem services. Throughout the flyway shooting of Greylag Geese constitutes a cultural service to recreational hunters, who enjoy the hunt for geese and the goose meat as a culinary food resource (see V.2). Furthermore, waterfowl hunters often pay landowners for hunting rights and they spend considerable amounts of money on their equipment (see Buij *et al.*, 2017). In certain countries, Greylag Geese can be sold at the market, and in countries performing large-scale derogation culling, the goose meat is provided to public kitchens. Hence, the goose hunting is also a provisioning service. The number of Greylag Geese killed is an indicator of this provisioning ecosystem service, cumulated from national and international levels.

Indicator definition

This indicator is defined as the number of Greylag Geese reported shot and live birds culled or shot under derogation annually. These numbers will be reported per Range State and along the flyway as a total.

Methodology

Data collection

The number of Greylag Geese shot by hunters will be derived from the bag statistics, which are mandatory in some countries while based on questionnaires in other countries and for some countries at rather long intervals. Data collected at national level, species-specific and annually, using the most up-to-date bag statistics available. Offtake under derogation will be derived from the annual reporting to the EGMP. At a 6-year interval, a questionnaire concerning the use of the meat will be send out to national authorities.

Data flow

Data is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre every 6 years (the same years as the deadlines for reporting on harvest of Annex II species under Article 12 of the Birds Directive), with a documentation of the year of reporting, type of reporting and geographical coverage.

Methodology for indicator calculation

The offtake of Greylag Geese by hunting or under derogation will be recorded per Range State and as a total for the flyway.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

The quality of the reports will depend on the national bag statistics and derogation reporting systems and the frequency of reporting. A system will have to be set up to assess the uncertainties in the reporting.

References

Buij, R., Melman, T. C., Loonen, M. J., & Fox, A. D. (2017). Balancing ecosystem function, services and disservices resulting from expanding goose populations. *Ambio*, 46(2), 301-318.

VI.1 Relative change in cost of goose management

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective VI. Minimize costs of goose management. An indicator for the successful fulfilment of this objective is that the measurable administrative costs for dealing with the many facets of goose related management and conflict are reduced with the progressive implementation of the ISSMP for the Greylag Goose (and other EGMP species management plans?).

Indicator definition

This indicator is defined by the number of administrative man-years spent on goose management in the Range States, including program management, communication with users, number of field assessments made, reporting (from local to international levels).

Methodology

Data collection

The EGMP Data Centre will send out a questionnaire to each Range State asking for administrative costs spent on goose management activities at various governance levels (local, regional, national).

Data flow

Data for each year from the period of 2020 - 2024 is to be reported to the EGMP Data Centre by 31 December 2025. Data collection shall continue also in 2025 - 2026.

Methodology for indicator calculation

The number of man-hours divided into different levels of governance and tasks will be amalgamated for each country and be presented in an international overview at 6- year intervals.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling.

Methodology uncertainty

It is important to standardize the questionnaires, but due to differences in national organisation of goose management, they will have to be tailored specifically. For some countries it may be difficult to make a quantitative assessment, and it may be necessary to resort to a qualitative assessment (increase, stable, decrease).

17. VII.1 Available sustainable hunting quota

Rationale

This indicator measures the progress towards the Fundamental Objective VII. Provide hunting opportunities that are consistent with maintaining the population at a satisfactory level. An indicator for the successful fulfilment of this objective is that sustainable hunting quotas are available to the Range States, which want to have a quota. The annual quotas will depend on the status of the population in relation to the population size target, the harvest strategy decided by the Range States for the two Management Units as well as the controllability of the harvest regulations and quotas in the individual Range States.

Indicator definition

The indicator will reflect the available hunting quota defined by the EGM IWG based on the status report and the harvest recommendations produced by the EGMP Data Centre taking into account the agreed management objective.

Methodology

Data collection

The available harvest quota decision will be available in the EGM IWG meeting minutes annually.

Data flow No additional data collection will be necessary.

Methodology for indicator calculation Absolute annual values of the available harvest quota.

Methodology for gap filling No gap filling is needed.

Methodology uncertainty

Due to the deep uncertainties of both of the offtake and the population size, proposing a sustainable harvest quota will be possible only in 2023 if the monitoring activities outlined in Chapter 6 are implemented.

Annex 7. Protocols for the iterative phase

Monitoring, assessment and decision-making protocols will be developed by the EGMP Data Centre after the adoption of the AFMP.